# eBookingOnline.net

Internet Court Booking &

Club Management Software

# Administration Guide



Embracing technology... ...for Sporting Advantages

> ebookingonline.net 11/30/2024

Version 2.9

# **Proprietary Notice**

The information contained in this document is subject to change without notice.

eBookingOnline.net makes no warranty of any kind with regard to this document, including, but not limited to, the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. eBookingOnline.net shall not be liable for errors contained herein or direct, indirect, special incidental or consequential damages in connection with the furnishing, performance, or use of this material.

© Copyright 2009 - 2024 eBookingonline.net

This document contains information, which is protected by copyright. All rights are reserved. Reproduction, adaptation, or translation without prior written permission is prohibited, except as allowed under the copyright laws.

# **Table of Contents**

	5
SETTING BASE PARAMETERS	7
ADDING ADDITIONAL ADMINISTRATORS	11
ADDING, MODIFYING OR DELETING SPORTS	13
SUB SPORTS	16
ADD OR MODIFYING COURTS	16
Adding multiple Schedules to Courts	20
MANAGING SPECIAL EVENTS	23
MANAGING GROUP EVENTS / CLASSES	25
ADDING MEMBERSHIP TYPES	27
ADDING MEMBER ACCOUNTS	
MANAGING THE DATABASE	
	31
	38
LIPI OADING A MODIFIED OR NEW CSV FILE	40
ADDING & EDITING INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS	
VIEWING & EDITING MEMBER INFORMATION	4۸
USING THE LEAGUE SYSTEM	
Overview	
Overview	47
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players	
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules	47 47 50 51
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules Printing Leagues	
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules Printing Leagues Closing off a Schedule	
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules Printing Leagues Closing off a Schedule. Rolling Back a Schedule.	
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules Printing Leagues Closing off a Schedule Rolling Back a Schedule	
OVERVIEW CREATING A NEW LEAGUE ADDING PLAYERS CREATING SCHEDULES PRINTING LEAGUES CLOSING OFF A SCHEDULE ROLLING BACK A SCHEDULE USING COMPETITIONS	
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules Printing Leagues Closing off a Schedule Rolling Back a Schedule USING COMPETITIONS Creating a Competition	
OVERVIEW CREATING A NEW LEAGUE ADDING PLAYERS CREATING SCHEDULES PRINTING LEAGUES CLOSING OFF A SCHEDULE ROLLING BACK A SCHEDULE USING COMPETITIONS CREATING A COMPETITION ADDING ENTRANTS COMPLIING THE COMPETITION.	
OVERVIEW CREATING A NEW LEAGUE ADDING PLAYERS CREATING SCHEDULES PRINTING LEAGUES CLOSING OFF A SCHEDULE ROLLING BACK A SCHEDULE USING COMPETITIONS CREATING A COMPETITION ADDING ENTRANTS COMPILING THE COMPETITION ENTERING RESULTS	
OVERVIEW CREATING A NEW LEAGUE ADDING PLAYERS CREATING SCHEDULES PRINTING LEAGUES CLOSING OFF A SCHEDULE CLOSING OFF A SCHEDULE ROLLING BACK A SCHEDULE USING COMPETITIONS CREATING A COMPETITION ADDING ENTRANTS COMPILING THE COMPETITION ENTERING RESULTS	47 47 50 51 52 53 53 53 53 54 54 55 55 57 58
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules Printing Leagues Closing off a Schedule Rolling Back a Schedule USING COMPETITIONS Creating a Competition Adding Entrants Compiling the Competition Entering results	47 47 50 51 52 53 53 53 53 54 54 55 57 58 58
Overview Creating a New League Adding Players Creating Schedules Printing Leagues Closing off a Schedule Rolling Back a Schedule <b>USING COMPETITIONS</b> CREATING A COMPETITION Adding Entrants Compiling the Competition Entering results <b>Adding Sponsorship</b>	47 47 50 51 52 53 53 53 53 54 54 54 55 55 57 58 58 58 58 59
OVERVIEW	47 47 50 51 52 53 53 53 54 54 55 55 57 58 58 58 58 58 59 61
OVERVIEW CREATING A NEW LEAGUE ADDING PLAYERS CREATING SCHEDULES PRINTING LEAGUES CLOSING OFF A SCHEDULE ROLLING BACK A SCHEDULE USING COMPETITIONS CREATING A COMPETITION ADDING ENTRANTS COMPILING THE COMPETITION ENTERING RESULTS ADDING SPONSORSHIP CHECK LIST REPORTS CUSTOM QUERIES	47 47 50 51 52 53 53 53 53 54 54 54 55 57 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 58 59 61

EMAILING MEMBERS	65
INTEGRATING EMAIL WITH MAIL CHIMP	67
SMS MESSAGING	
CHANGING THE HEADER	69
LIMITATIONS	69
RECORDING PAYMENTS	70
MEMBERSHIP RENEWALS	72
ALLOW NEW MEMBERS TO SIGN UP WITH AUTOMATIC PAYMENT	74
USING STRIPE FOR MEMBERSHIP RENEWALS OR PAYMENTS	75
Overview	75
CONFIGURING STRIPE	75
ONLINE MEMBERSHIP RENEWALS	77
Subscriptions	78
MANAGING SUBSCRIPTIONS	82
Changing the Cost of a Subscription	85
COURT FEE BILLING SYSTEM USER SET UP & TESTING	
1. COLLECTION THROUGH THE CLUB ADMINISTRATOR	86
2. Use of Pre-Paid Vouchers	86
3. COLLECTION ONLINE THROUGH A MERCHANT	87
CONFIGURE THE PEAK AND OFF-PEAK COSTS FOR ALL COURTS	87
ENABLE THE BILLING SYSTEM	
TO MAKE A MANUAL DEPOSIT INTO A MEMBERS ACCOUNT	90
USING THE TOP-UP VOUCHER SYSTEM	
Making Online Payments	93
PUBLIC COURT BOOKINGS – PAY PER PLAY	95
CONFIGURATION	95
YOUR PUBLIC LINK	
How this works for Guests	
How this works for Your Club	
DISPUTES	

## Introduction

This manual is concerned with the administration of the eBookingOnline <sup>™</sup> Court Booking System. To gain access to the Administration Panel you will have received a URL in your welcome email that directs you to the main login screen of the administration panel, your email will also have included the default username (admin) and your unique password. We recommend that you change your admin password as part of the installation and setup.

Please note you will not be able to use the Court Booking System until basic information is entered through the Administration Panel.

# **Getting Started**

The administration panel is accessed through a standard web browser, you will need to have session cookies and JavaScript enabled for this to function correctly. Session cookies and JavaScript are enabled by default on all browsers therefore this should not present any issues to the vast majority of users.

If you cannot access the Administration Panel please check your internet connection and personal firewall if applicable. If you cannot connect to any other web sites check your Internet connection, if you can connect to well-known web sites, please check your personal firewall application to allow all connections to ebookingonline.net.

To access the Administration Panel enter your unique URL supplied in your registration email, you will then be presented with the logon screen shown below. Enter your Username (default *admin*) and Password and click on the **Login** button.

ELELLO	Fantasy le	ennis & Squash Club
embracing technology sporting advantage	for s	Administration Panel
Administrator Log	in	Lost password
Username		
Password		

#### Figure 1 Administration Logon

If you have lost your password, you can reset it by clicking on the lost password link.

Once logged on you will be presented with the dashboard, if you have just set-up your account this will have no data, but over a short period of time statistics will start to appear. Use the left-hand navigation menu to navigate the Admin Panel, starting with the Main menu, shown below.



Figure 2 Administration Main Menu

# **Setting Base Parameters**

It is important to understand that the settings on the Main configuration screen need to be correct. Initially these will have been configured for you using the information that was given during registration. These settings are used in displaying information about your organisation, how your members contact you, and setting the correct time zone for your part of the world. It is also the main contact that we use to contact you about your service.

You can change the values displayed at any time by clicking on the **edit** link shown in **Figure 2** Administration Main Menu to display the screen shown below.

# Change Site Settings

This section controls the booking system's main settings and options, click Save once complete to save any changes.

Organisation	Fantasy Tennis & Squash Club					
Contact	Squash Club Committee					
Contact email	nathan@pellingsfarm.co.uk					
Phone	07710143	804				
Time Zone	Europe/Lo	ndon	•			
Local Currency	٤ - Pound ح					
Directory Access	Enabled (full acccess)					
Latitude	50.0582	Optional - used for geolocation				
Longitude	0.1804					
Sunset time today is at: 19:57						
Copy booking Emails to Admins		Use large	Date buttons			
Hide the Logoff Button		Allow Ad	mins to be booked as players			
Hide the Manage Account Button		Single Pl	ayer Bookings only			
Enable Leagues	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	Enable m	ember self registration			
PIN confirmation for Bookings		Hide all b	ooking details			
Display Peak Status	<b>~</b>	Disable a	Il welcome emails			
Force Booking Rules for Admins	<b>~</b>	Full Direc	ctory Access for Admins			
Disable Guest Bookings						

Save

Figure 3 Modifying Basic Club Settings

 </l

The organisation field is used in identifying your club in emails and notifications and well as the displaying your club name in the header on all web pages. Please take care to get this correct as it will alter the look and feel of each page, if the name is clipped when viewing web pages try using a shorter name or with abbreviations.

The contact information is used to direct your users to you when they run into difficulty.

The time zone is very important. Our servers run on Greenwich Meantime (GMT 0). To ensure that your booking times are correct please adjust this from the drop-down list. Failure to do so will cause inaccurate bookings.

Change the currency symbol to suit your local currency, this is used when using costs to associate membership fees or court booking charges.

You can change the status of the Directory. The Directory enables you to list members' contact telephone numbers to other members. Please note if enabled, members will have the personal option to list or not to list their numbers in the directory by editing their personal profile. There are three options for the directory:

DisabledThe Directory will not be available to any member and members will not be able<br/>to change their preference or contact details.EnabledThe Directory listing is available and members' names will be listed, this requires<br/>the user to be logged onto the system. The member can modify their contact<br/>numbers and preference to be listed in the directory through their unique logon.Enabled (full access)The Directory listing is available and members' names will be listed, this requires<br/>the user to be logged onto the system. The member can modify their contact<br/>numbers and preference to be listed in the directory through their unique logon,<br/>in addition members can also modify their address information if given in the<br/>membership database. Note, addresses are not listed in the directory.

The longitude and latitude parameters are optional. This is to provide geo location information for your club so that local information, such as Sunset can be calculated. It is also used in the Pay to Play Service so that guests can find your club. This will be required if using the lighting controls for courts where sunset hours needs to be calculated for turning on or off lights. If set the page will also display the current sunset time for today, this is to validate that the correct co-ordinates are entered. The longitude and latitude of your club can be obtained using Google Maps.

Finally, there are some system wide options you can enable or disable in the check boxes:

Copy Email Bookings to Admin	This is useful function when you are first starting out if you wish to confirm that emails are being sent out or if troubleshooting emails. When enabled all emails will be copied to <i>the contact</i> <i>email</i> address for those administrators that are configured to receive such emails (see Copy Email bookings p.12).
Use Large Date Buttons	The default method of choosing the date using a touch screen is to use BIG BLUE buttons that make selection easier with the fingers. For standard users the date selection is through the calendar picker. Check this box if you want ALL users to use the big blue buttons, this is a common option chosen by many clubs.
Hide Logoff Button Hide Manage Account Button	If you access the booking system from another web page where you are previously logged on then you may want to hide these two buttons to prevent any user confusion, these are buttons available to users once logged on to the main system.
Single Player booking only	When making a booking by default a member can add other members or guests to the booking. When checked this option does not give the member the ability to add anyone else to the booking, only the booking member will be part of the booking.
Allow Admins to be booked as players	By default users or admins configured with a privilege level of more than 1 cannot be booked as players. If your admins want to use their same logon IDs for ADMIN functions and as players check this box
Enable Leagues	If using the integral Leagues System then this check box needs to be checked for them to be displayed from the main booking system. Unchecking this box is useful when first creating the leagues so that the administrator can verify the correct settings.
Enable Member Self registration	This feature allows members without a logon to register for an account from the main logon page of the booking system. When a registration request is made an email is sent to the main site admin email address shown on this page. The administrator then needs to authorise this account and enable it with information given in the email. Once enabled the registering member will receive an email confirming their registration.

**Pin Confirmation for Bookings** When using communal screens for bookings such as the touchscreen in the clubhouse any person can make a booking. By checking this box when a booking is made on such a screen a pop up is displayed asking for a pin confirmation. A pin number from any playing member will be accepted to validate the booking. **Hide Booking Details** Checking this field will prevent other standard members from seeing who has made other bookings, special events and events are always visible to all members. **Display Peak Status** Checking this option displays a "Star" icon in the top right hand corner of each slot on the main booking page. This allows a member to have a visual indicator for peak and off peak courts. **Disable all welcome emails** Checking this fields will disable any sending of the welcome emails that a member would normally receive when they are added to the system. **Force Rules for Admins** By default a Privilege 5 admin can make any booking in the future and bypasses the rule set for advance bookings. When setting this option the advance booking rules are observed for all admins only for member bookings. When booking special Events or Group Events advance booking rules are still ignored allowing future bookings to be made. By default Privilege Level 5 administrators of the booking system **Full Directory Access for Admins** will have full access to the directory. If this is to be restricted then this checkbox should be unchecked.

Disable Guest BookingsBy default, Guest are allowed to be booked in by members. To<br/>disable the Guest feature, check this box.

When all changes have been made simply click on the Save button, to cancel any changes click on the Main link in the navigation menu.

To change the Admin password of the currently logged in user click on the **Change password** link at the bottom of the **Main** page.

# **Adding additional Administrators**

Additional administrators of the system can access the admin panel and the areas that can be accessed can be configured on an individual need. To add or modify and existing administrator from the **main menu** click on the **Manage Administrators** link toward the top of the page. A list of existing administrators will be shown. New admins can be added or an existing one edited or deleted. To add a new admin click on the **Add** button at the top of the table listing all Admins.

dministrator Log	gin				logo
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics	Add New Ad	minis	trator		
	Please fill in the following	g details an	d click save to add a new Ad	Iministrator	
Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	User name	240			
Sports Manage available sports	Email Address				
Courts Manage the courts available to each sport	Password				
Special Events Manage the special event types	Confirm password Access Permitte	d to the foll	lowing areas		
Group Events Manage Group Events	Edit Members		Manage Specials		
Manago Databaso	Edit Courts		Sports		
Create membership	Send Emails		Features		
Export features	Sponsorship		Manage Database		
lembers	Edit Admins		Renewals		
lanage Member ccount details &	League Admin		Events Management		
ayments	Copy booking email	5	Reports		
p <mark>onsorship</mark> Create or Edit your ponsor's details	Reports Admin				
leports Tew Booking Statistics graphical reports	Save				
eagues Create & manage eague Tables					

Figure 4 Add a new Administrator

Simply fill out the form with a name, password and email address and the areas that this user is allowed to access through the administration panel and click Save. Details of each options are shown in the following table. If Copy Emails to Admin is checked in the main options [Figure 3 Modifying Basic Club Settings] then individual admins can also opt in or out to receive these emails by individually checking the 'Copy booking emails'.

Edit Members	Allows access to edit member details and payments
Manage Specials	Allows access to the Special Sections
Edit Courts	Allows access to Edit Courts and Times Sections
Send Emails	Admins can send emails to the membership through the eBookingonline mail servers
Additional Features	Allows access to features such as Court Fee Billing, Membership Renewals, Pay per Play and API Access
Sponsorship	Allows access to the Sponsorship Sections
Manage Database	Allows access to the change the structure of the Database and add membership types and payment codes.
Edit Admins	Allows access to edit admin privileges. This should only be checked for full system admins
Renewals	Allows access to the Membership Renewal Section
League Admin	Allows access to the Leagues Section and Competition Sections
Events Management	Allows access to the Event Manage Section
Copy booking emails	If Copy Emails to Admin is checked in the main options [Figure 3 Modifying Basic Club Settings ] then individual admins can also opt in or out to receive these emails by individually checking the 'Copy booking emails'.

#### **Reports**

Allows Access to the Reports section including running custom reports

**Reports Admin** 

The option allows access to create and edit custom reports

# Adding, modifying or deleting Sports

Your club may be a single sporting entity or may have many sports. The eBookingonline system allows you to set up to 5 individual sports which should be more than enough for most organisations. To create or modify a sport click on the **sports** link on the left-hand navigation pane of the Administration panel, this will bring up the following screen.

Administrator Log	jin			logoff		
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	Manage S This table lists out various formats. U	Sports all Sports that are se the buttons to e	played. You can filter on any field by using dit or view each record.	the search box, all results can be be s	sorted by multiple columns and the	inal results exported into
Sports Manage available	Show 15	✓ entries		Search:	Add Edit Copy	CSV Excel Delete
sports	Priority 🖺	Sport	Consecutive Bookings	Advance Bookings	Max Cancellation	Booking Size
Courts Manage the courts	1	Squash	0	10	-1.00	10
available to each sport	2 👔	Tennis	4	10	4.00	21
Special Events	3 👔	Snooker	3	-1	2.00	10
event types	Showing 1 to 3 o	of 3 entries				
Group Events Manage Group Events	Add a new spor	rt (max of 5)	Add Sport			Previous 1 Next
Manage Database Create membership types, fields & Import / Export features	Set up Sub Spo	orts	Sub Sports			
Members	Notes: Sports are listed	in priorty as displa	aved on the main web name, you can adjust	the priority of individual sports to suit	your needs by clicking on the arrow	e 🕈
Manage Member account details &	The number of C	onsecutive Bookir	ngs is the number of sessions a normal mer	nber (non-Admin) can make in one bo	oking.	5 .
payments	The Max Cancel	lation time is the n	umber of hours prior to the booking a norma	al member (non-Admin) can cancel. To	o disable this feature use the deaul	of 0.
Sponsorship Create or Edit your sponsor's details	The Booking Siz session set this t your players nan	e changes the size to around 21, else nes will be clipped.	e of the session booking window on the mai leave it at the default of 10 which is suitable	n page, and hence the number of ses a to show two players. This will vary de	sions per page. If using more than t epending on the duration of each bo	wo player names for a 30 min boking, if it is not big enough
Reports View Booking						

#### **Figure 5 Managing Sports**

A list of your current sports is displayed. If you wish to modify an existing sport simply highlight the sport and click on the EDIT button at the top of the table or to permanently delete a sport click on the delete button. Please note that once a sport is deleted the bookings for that sport cannot be recovered.

You can change the order in which sports are displayed on the main booking system. The highest **Priority** value will be listed first. To change or bump up the priority click on the **1** green arrow.

To add a new sport simply click on **Add Sport** button and you will be taken through the following screen.

Please fill in the following details and click save to add a new coart

logoff

#### Administrator Login

T lease hit in the following details	s and click save to add a new sport		
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics	Sport name		]
	Consecutive bookings	0	
Main Edit Club details &	Standard Users Privilege Level 0	L	
	Advance Booking in days		
Sports Manage available sports	Advance Booking Start Time		]
Courts Manage the courts	Club PC's Privilege Level 1 or 2		
available to each sport	Advance Booking in days		
Special Events Manage the special	Advance Booking Start Time		]
event types	Guest Only Adv Booking in days		* only applicable if Force Rules for Admins is selected
Group Events	Cuest Only Adv Beaking Start Time		) * anly applicable if Force Dyles for Admine is celested
Manage Group Events	Guest Only Adv Booking Start Time		only applicable if Force Rules for Admins is selected
Manage Database	Max cancellation time in hours	0	]
types, fields & Import / Export features	Force Max Cancellation		* billing only
	Booking Size	10	]
Members Manage Member account details &	% to refund after Max Cancellation		* billing only
payments	% to refund before Max Cancellation	100	* billing only
Sponsorship	% to refund if re-booked		* billing only
Create or Edit your sponsor's details	Min no. of Players per booking	1 🗸	
Reports View Booking Statistics	Allow touchscreen users to modify bookings	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	
& graphical reports	Mark Attendance		
Leagues Create & manage League Tables	Save		

#### Figure 6 Adding a new sport

First give your sport a name, this name will be displayed on the main page of your web site and will be used for members to select which sport they require.

The **consecutive bookings** field allows you to set the maximum number of courts a member may book one after the other in a single booking, this is also known as a series. For example, you may use shorter timeslots of 30 minutes for each court and allow up to 3 courts to be booked for a 90 minute session. In this case enter 3 in the Consecutive bookings field. If you do not want this function, then enter the default of 0.

You can specify the maximum number of days in advance that a standard member and a Club PC user can book a court separately, this does not apply to administrators (privilege level 4/5) unless the option is set to override this (see section Setting Base Parameters Page 7). Enter the number of days in the **No. of days for Advance bookings** field. By default, the start of a valid day is at 00:00, if a specific time on that day is required as the earliest start time then enter this in the **Advance Booking Start Time** fields. There are

separate advance booking times for guest only bookings. These can only be made by a Priv Level 5 admin and only come into effect if the override option is selected.

The **bookings size** is basically a way for you to adjust the size of the box in each court booking as it appears on the main user booking screen. The shorter the time period of each booking the smaller it will appear on the main screen. Short court bookings may not be big enough to display all the names of those players that have booked the court. It may also be the case that if you want to display up to four players per booking (e.g. doubles) then the size of the box will need to be even bigger.

Generally, if you have a sport with bookings of 30mins or so and want to display 2 players then the default of 10 is a good starting point, for 4 players try around 21. If you find that the boxes are too large and you want more bookings to appear on a single page then decrease this value, if you find that players' names are clipped then increase this value.

The **Max Cancellation Time** is used for creating a policy on how late standard members can cancel courts. It is also used in the billing system to determine at what point to offer varying refunds. This time is measured in hours, if you want 30 minutes then enter 0.5. To disable this feature and allow members to cancel up to the last minute enter the default of 0. Please note that this function does not affect club administrators and by default the system does not allow standard members to modify or cancel courts that are in the past.

If **BILLING** is enabled, that is you charge for the courts through this system, then you can stipulate how much of the booking fee is refunded if the member cancels after **Max Cancellation Time**. Simple enter a percentage in the '% to refund of after Max Cancellation' field. For example, if a court costs \$10 and you want to refund \$4 enter 40. This will encourage your members to cancel courts freeing them up for other members. Similarly, if you only want to refund a percentage of the booking fee before Max Cancellation Time enter a percentage, the default is 100% allowing a full refund if the booking is cancelled before Max Cancellation Time. Once this booking has been cancelled it is placed into a pool of cancelled bookings made available for other members to book. The system also offers the members an option to be emailed if there are any court cancellations on a specific day. If a cancelled court is rebooked, then you can specify how much of the remaining court fee (in our case \$6) is further refunded to the original members. Again, enter a percentage of this remaining balance in the '% to refund if rebooked' field. Email notifications will be sent to each member notifying them of any refund to their accounts as well as their current balance.

**Force Max Cancellation** As discussed when billing is enabled it is possible for members to cancel courts up to the start time of the court, and will receive any refunds you have determined. To override this feature and enforce the Max Cancellation time when billing is enabled check this box.

The **Min no. of Players per booking** creates a rule stipulating how many individual players must be entered when a booking is made. The default is a single member, but there may be sports where you require a minimum of 2 or more players to complete the booking. Guests, if used, are treated as a qualifying member.

The check option **Allow touchscreen users to modify bookings** allows members using a club PC (touch screen or normal monitor) to modify their bookings. Normally the club PC will be logged on as a generic user allowing courts to be booked without having the inconvenience of users having to logon and off every time. If a member wishes to modify their booking with this option enabled (by default) they simply select or touch their booking and they will be prompted for their own unique PIN to make the changes.

The second check option **Mark Attendance** allows administrators to check and report on whether a booking was attended. This is especially useful where membership fees are included in a subscription and the club wishes no monitor 'no shows'. With this feature enabled members can confirm their attendance by selecting their booking and confirm with their PIN, this feature is not allowed through the standard logon (for obvious reasons) though Admin level users can also modify these settings on a booking basis. By default, attendance can only be marked in a window of 30 minutes prior to the booking and 30 minutes after the booking, the time after a booking to still be able to register attendance can be modified. Attendance is confirmed by a Green Check in the Booking on the main booking system.

Once the form is filled out click the save button, this will take you back to the main Sports page where your new sport will be listed.

# **Sub Sports**

You can add **Sub Sports** as well. Sub Sports are typically used where multiple sports are played on the same courts, for example squash and racket ball. If you configure a sub sport then when a booking is made the user will be prompted for which sport they are intending to play. The sport played will be recorded so that reports can be generated on individual sports for usage.

# Add or modifying courts

Once you have set up your sports you can now add courts to that sport. From then navigation pane on the left-hand side of the administration panel click **Courts** this will take you to the following screen where you can add, modify or delete courts for all sports.

logoff

#### Administrator Login

Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics	Manage Courts								
Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	This table lists out all available Courts. formats. Use the buttons to add, edit o	You can filter on any field by using the r view each record.	e search box, all result	ts can be	be sort	ted by mu	Iltiple col	umns and	I the final re
Sports	Show 15 v entries	Search:		Add	Edit	Сору	CSV	Excel	Delete
Manage available sports	Sport	14	Court						ŧr
Courts Manage the courts	Snooker		Pitch 1a						
available to each sport	Snooker		Table 1						
Special Events	Snooker		Table Alpha						
event types	Snooker		Test						
Group Events Manage Group	Squash		Court 1 - Glassbac	k					
Events	Squash		Court 2						
Manage Database Create membership	Squash		Court 3						
Export features	Squash		Court 4						
Members Manage Member	Tennis		Court 1						
account details & payments	Tennis		Court 2						
Sponsorship	Tennis		Court 3						
sponsor's details	Tennis		Court 4						
Reports View Booking	Tennis		Court 5 Mini Tennis	;					
Statistics & graphical reports	Tennis		Court 6 Mini Tennis						
Leagues Create & manage	Tennis		Court 7						
League Tables	Showing 1 to 15 of 17 entries								

#### Figure 7 Managing Courts

In this section you can add, modify or delete courts. Each court is associated with a predefined sport, individual start and finish times, duration of each session, start and stop times for peak use as well as peak and off-peak fees.

A list of your current sports is displayed use the next or previous links to show more courts if necessary. If you wish to modify an existing court, simply select the court and then click on the EDIT button at the top of the table or to permanently delete a court click on the delete Button. Please note that once a court is deleted the bookings for that court cannot be recovered.

To add a court simply click on the Add button at the top of the table. The following screen will be displayed when adding or modifying a court.

Administrator Lo	ogin				logoff		
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics			ld a new court and cli	ick cave			
Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	Court Name			UK Save.			
Sports Manage available	Sport		Snooker	*			
sports	Peak Court Co	st (£)	0		Off Peak Court Cost (£)	0	
Courts Manage the courts available to each sport	Peak Guest Fe	e (£)	0		Off Peak Guest Fee (£)	0	
Special Events Manage the special	Peak Coaching	Fee (£)	0		Off Peak Coaching Fee (£)	0	
event types	Use Lighting C	ontrols					
Group Events Manage Group Events	Enter the Court	Start & Finish Times b	elow, note the time for	ormat is 24 I	hour (hh:mm) & the duration is the ler	ngth in minu	tes of each booking. If
Manage Database Create membership types, fields & Import /	you require brea	aks or changes in time ing these times can re	s or durations during move existing booking	the day use Igs, use with	e the + or = selectors to add more tin 1 care.	nes to the d	ay.
Export features	Weekday	First Court Time	Last Court Time	Duration	(hh:mm 24 hr format)		
Members Manage Member account details &	Sunday			0	Copy & fill		
payments	Monday			0			
Sponsorship Create or Edit your	Tuesday			0			
sponsor's details	Wednesday			0			
Reports View Booking Statistics & graphical reports	Thursday			0			
Leagues	Friday			0			
Create & manage League Tables	Saturday			0			
	Add Court						

#### Figure 8 Adding a Court

The **court name** is very important as this will be the name displayed on the main booking page, try to refrain from using just numbers, a description of Court 1, or Court 3 will look a lot better. Courts are display in alphabetical order so you may also wish to consider what courts you want list first.

Next select the sport from a dropdown list defined in the previous section you want to associate this court with.

You do not need to use the full billing features to enter costs for the courts. These will appear in email notifications and on the booking confirmation screens and is useful information if you charge for courts. Enter any costs in the appropriate fields. Costs for coaches are defined as membership types with the coaching option selected. This is discussed later under membership types.

The court will require times for the first court of the day, the last court of the day and the duration in minutes and the times in 24 hour format. It is possible to configure these independently for each weekday. To help fill this form the first row (Sunday) can be entered and then if the **Copy & Fill** button is clicked all other days will be filled with the same times as Sunday.

To finish click on the Add Court button on the bottom of the page. If the court is successfully added you will be taken back to the main Courts screen where you will be able to view your recently added court.

To modify a court, first select the court from the table and click on the Edit button at the top of the table. Here you can modify all of the court details added in the previous section, and you can also define peak and off-peak times by clicking on Edit Peak Times, if your courts have the same time or each day you can simple fill in Monday and click copy & fill to copy to all other days. This will be of use later on if you have membership types that can only book off peak courts.

Administrator Logir	า				logoff
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics	Edit Court	Peak Time	S and click save. Leave th	e fields blank if	you do not want to specify any peak times.
Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	Please note all time Court Peak Times	s are in 24 hour forma Cou	t hh:mm rt 1 - Glassback		
Sports Manage available sports	Weekday	Peak Start Time	Peak Finish Time		
Courts Manage the courts	Monday	18:00	22:00	Copy & Fill	
available to each sport	Tuesday	18:00	22:00		
Special Events Manage the special	Wednesday	18:00	22:00		
event types	Thursday	18:00	22:00		
Group Events Manage Group Events	Friday	18:00	22:00		
Manage Database	Saturday	18:00	22:00		
types, fields & Import / Export features	Sunday				
Members Manage Member account details & payments	Save Details	Edit Court			

Enter peak start and finish times for each day in 24 hour format and click Save Details.

### **Adding multiple Schedules to Courts**

Most of the time courts will following a standard start time, finish time and duration for a booking. If changes are needed to any of these parameters during the day then additional schedules can be added. For example on Tuesday 08:00 through to 17:00 are configured as 30 minute slots but at 17:00 to 21:00 they change to 40 minutes. To configure this type of behaviour edit the court in the standard way and click on the + icon for Tuesday and a new line will appear to add your second schedule of 17:00 to 21:00 at 40 minutes slots. If you wanted to remove a schedule then click on the associated - icon.



Caution: Changing these times can remove existing bookings, use with care.

#### Figure 9 Adding schedules to courts

### **CAUTION** PAY PARTICULAR ATTENTION TO THE CHANGES YOU MAKE. IF THE BOOKING TIMES CHANGE ANY EXISTING BOOKINGS THAT ARE NO LONGER VALID WILL BE CANCELLED. EMAILS WILL BE SENT TO EACH BOOKING MEMBER INFORMING THEM THAT THEIR BOOKING HAS BEEN CANCELLED DUE TO COURT RE-STRUCTURING.

After clicking on the Save button the number of bookings that will be lost due to re-structuring will be displayed and you are required to confirm that these changes are to proceed. Once proceeded these bookings cannot be recovered.

If lighting controls are required for this court then enable the checkbox Using Lighting Controls, this will then present the following additional fields.

Use Lighting Controls	
Lighting Controls	
Lighting cost (£)	0.00
WiFi Lighting IP Address	192.168.0.78
WiFi Lighting Password	IO88EWR
WiFi Lighting Channel	1 •
Light Offset (min)	1     Sunset Offset (min)     1500     Night Use Only     Disable Night       Lights selection

The lighting cost is optional, if supplied this will be used in addition to any other court costs to calculate the total cost of the booking.

There are several lighting systems available, for more information on these two systems and how to configure them please reference Tech Note 7 at https://ebookingonline.net/support.html

There are a few configurable parameters that can be used when to enable the lights, varying the time against the booking time.

**Light Offset** This is the time in minutes that the lights will be switched on *before* the time of the booking. This may be useful for outdoor lighting when the lights need to warm up first, or for staggering lighting start up times to reduce power surges.

**Night Only** Check this box if lights are only to be used after sunset, typically this is required for outdoor lighting. This requires the longitude and latitude of your location to be configured in the global system configuration. Having these co-ordinates, the system is able to calculate the local sunset time and will offer the option for members at booking time to select whether or not to use the lights. Bookings that have an end time later than local sunset will be given this option. For special events the lights will be selected by default.

**Sunset Offset** This option is used in conjunction with night only. The default behaviour for night only is to allow the use of lights after sunset. This offset allows the selection of lights to be adjusted in minutes before sunset.

**Disable Night Lights Selection** By default a member is prompted to select which courts they would like to have lights turned on, when if falls between your offset settings. This is optionally around dusk time and gives a choice. Enabling this option disables the ability for members to select lighting times and turns the lights on based on the Offset and Sunset times. This option has no function with a Nights Use Only court.

The following is an example to explain this further.

Local Sunset time 19:23

Light Offset is 8 minutes

Sunset Offset is 30 mins

Each court is configured for 30 min slots on the hour and half hour

Court Booking Time	Time Lights will be allowed	Lights Offered	Lights switched on at
18:00 - 18:30	19:23 – 30 mins = 18:53	×	
18:30 – 19:00	19:23 – 30 mins = 18:53	$\checkmark$	18:30 - 8 = 18:22
19:00 - 19:30	19:23 – 30 mins = 18:53	$\checkmark$	19:00 - 8 = 18:52

When using a network based Relay Controller then enter the Controller's IP address, admin password (if applicable) and channel (relay). If using a single channel USR device enter channel 1.

When using the lighting controls an offset can be set for each court so that the lights turn on 'offset' minutes before the booking starts. This can be useful when using external lighting that takes several minutes to warm up to temperature.

For further information on Lighting please refer to Tech Note #7 on our support pages or log a support call.

# **Managing Special Events**

Special events are events such as coaching or team training or any event where you would like the court booked out but do not want to book the court out to an individual. The online court booking system allows you to create up to 80 different special booking types and you can individually colour code each one so that they are easily recognisable on the main court booking system screen. Please note that only administrators (privilege level 4 and above) are able to make bookings for special events.

From then navigation pane on the left-hand side of the administration panel click **Specials** this will take you to the following screen where you can add, modify or delete specials for all sports.

Show 10 • entries	Search:	Add	Edit Copy CSV Excel Delete			
Special Name	Colour	Active	Reported On			
1st Team Match		~	×			
2nd Team Match - Men		~	×			
3rd Team Match - Men		~	1			
Adult Beginners		~	×			
Adult Improvers		~	×			
Aegon Ladies		~	×			
Aegon Men		~	×			
AGM		~	×			
Alethea Dougal Tournament		~	×			
Approved Group Book		▲ ✓ ✓				
Showing 1 to 10 of 77 entries						
		Previous 1	2 3 4 5 8 Next			

### Manage Special Events

The following table lists all of the Special Events, you can edit, delete or add new events. The results can be further sorted, searched on and exported.

#### Figure 10 Managing Special Events

A list of your current special events is displayed use the **next** or **previous** links to show more events if necessary. If you wish to modify an existing entry simply highlight it and click **Edit** button and to permanently delete a special event click on the **Delete** button at the top of the table. Please note that once an event is deleted the bookings for that event cannot be recovered, it is therefore advisable to disable the event by modifying it.

To add a special event simply click on the **Add Event** button at the bottom of the screen. The following screen will be displayed when adding or modifying a special event.

Administrator Log	in		logoff
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics	Add New Spec	al Event	
Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	Special Event Name	ease enter details and click save	
Sports Manage available sports	Colour	#dd9d2c	
Courts Manage the courts available to each sport	Active Exclude from Reports		
Special Events Manage the special event types	Save		



Special events are easy to add, they simply require a name that will be displayed on the main booking screen, and an associated colour. You can select one of the pre-defined colours from the sicon, or you can manually enter any colour using the hexadecimal colour standard (i.e. #fffffff representing white and #000000 representing black) However please note that when viewing special events a white font is used so you will need to use darker background colours for the text to be easily visible. Also note that the colours do not have to be unique, all coach types for example could be one colour, it's up to you.

The active box is useful when you no longer want to use the special event but want to retain past events in the database. To disable the event untick the Active box. You can finally delete the event from the main screen in Figure 9 when you are ready.

Finally you may have special events that you do not want to run reports against, for example court maintenance, cleaning, repairs of for booking out to special functions. If this is the case then simply check the **Exclude from Report** box.

# **Managing Group Events / Classes**

Group Events / Classes are very similar to special events, they differ in that members can register for these events. For example, it may be a fitness class repeated over a 3 month period, or a group coaching session or even a club competition.

To add an Event of this type click on the **Group Events** link on the left hand menu and then click **add**. The following screen will be displayed.

# Add New Group Event

To add a new Group Event please update details and click save First Name **Event Type** Book as individual sessions Ŧ Max no. of Entrants Members can add other members to the Event **Open Booking** Inherit Sport Restrictions Primary group member can remove sub members Cost per Entrant (£) 0.00 End Date for Registration Colour Save



First enter a name for your event, this will be the name displayed on the booking slots.

There are 3 different types of events.

**Book as individual sessions** 

When an Event is booked each session is regarded as a separate session, even if the administrator repeats the booking. When registering a member will only be registering for a single timeslot.

Book as series of sessions	Using this option allows an administrator to book a series of sessions as one event. This is done by repeating the booking at the time of making the booking. E.g. Fitness Training repeated every Thursday for the next month for two 30 min bookings from $19:00 - 20:00$ . When a member registers for this they will be registering for all of the Training sessions.
All Bookings form a single event	This type of event is useful for competitions or similar. The event will span multiple courts and sessions, as such a member can register for the event by clicking on any of the slots booked for this

The **max number of entrants** is useful for classes to restrict the number of participants. If there is no restrict then leave this blank or enter zero.

event.

**Open Booking** when checked allows member to add not just themselves but any other member to the event. This may be useful for family bookings or booking in children of parents for events such as "summer class"

**Inherit Sport Restrictions** if checked any restrictions imposed by the membership type will be included for Group Events, e.g. times and number of bookings that can be made

**Primary group member can remove sub members**. This option is used in conjunction with "Open Booking" and allows the primary member of a family group to remove a group member from the Event.

Mark Attendance is used so that members can mark their attendance for the Event on a device at the club

**Include in Cancellation Alerts** if checked then members will be alerted if a place becomes available on this Event. These alerts are emails and if enabled, SMS notifications.

The **cost per entrant** is used in notifications and can be marked as paid by an administrator, just as any booking can be.

**End Date for Registration** if you have a cut off date for registration, please enter it here. Otherwise this field can be left blank.

**Colour** Here you can select the colour that will be used for your event when displayed on the booking sheet.

# **Adding Membership Types**

Add Membership Types

Before adding members to your system, you may want to add membership types. Membership types define the privileges a member has in terms of the sports they are able to book and an associated cost for that membership. The latter will be useful if you wish to generate automated renewal notices.

By default, there is a type named *all sports* that allows all sports to be booked, this type does not have a cost associated with it and cannot be modified. To create your own membership types select Manage Database from the left-hand navigation menu and then click membership types. A list of all existing types is shown you can either edit existing types with the edit button or add a new one by clicking add type.

To a new Memebership Type please update details and click save											
Membership '	Туре										
Description											
											le.
Allow in Mem	bership re	enewal (									
Group membe	ership	(									
Billing Cycle			12 Months			•					
Cost (£)											
Group Tag											
Sport	Allowed	Off Peak Only	All Inclusive	Coaching Account	Daily Peak Limit	Weekly Peak Limit	Daily Limit	Weekly Limit	Consecutive P Limit	eak Total Consect Limit	utive Max consecutive
Tennis					1			12			
Squash					1						
Combined Limit					1				]		
Court Fee Di	scounts	to be ap	plied to cou	ırt fees							
Sport	Off Peak	Discount 9	<mark>%</mark> Peak Disc	ount %							
Tennis											
Squash											

Figure 13 Adding Membership Types

The membership type has several options and limits on the number of bookings possible. The initial options are:

Membership Type a name that is given to this membership type.

**Description** is a free text description of this type, perhaps showing what it permits. This is also displayed for new members when using the Sign up Page

Allow in Membership Renewal If online renewal of membership is enabled then this member type will be made available to members. During online renewal it is possible for members to change their membership type and associated cost. At renewal time only membership type checked here will be given to members as options. If Stripe.com is used as the online merchant, then this will also cause the membership type to be added as a PLAN in Stripe.

**Group Membership** Group Memberships are typically assigned to family members. With this checkbox selected any member assigned to this type will have the option to be the primary member for the account. It is the primary member who is considered the primary contact for the account and charged for membership renewals. Primary members can also have other members such as spouse and children assigned to the same account so that when the account is renewed all members to the group are renewed. By adding a member to a group, the membership type will always be re-assigned to the parent membership type.

**Billing Cycle** This field is used in conjunction with the Cost of membership field and is essentially the term of the membership type. It is also used in online renewals to recalculate the new membership renewal date for each account.

**Cost** This is the cost of the membership for each billing cycle. This field is only used in membership renewals.

#### Limiting court usage

In the example Figure 13 Adding Membership Types, the two sports of Tennis and Squash have been configured, and the associated courts configured with peak and off-peak times. To add a new type enter a name and a cost. The cost is to record the cost of the membership and can be used in receiving membership renewals and recording payments to the club; this field is optional. Then select the sports and times that a member of this type is allowed to book. If a membership type does not permit a sport then all members associated with that type will not be able to book a court for that sport. Optionally you can also, limit how many courts can be booked by an individual in any combination of daily or weekly rates (Monday to Sunday) and / or peak times. In the example Figure 13 we are limiting a member to a single peak court per day and no more than a total of 12 slots in any week. If this is not required simply enter a zero or leave the field blank. Additionally, you can also limit the max number of concurrent bookings that can be made per sport by entering a value in the *MAX Consecutive* field.

In addition to weekly limits the number of active bookings for peak / total can also be set using the *Active Peak Limit* and *Total Active Limit* fields. This is used to limit players' peak and off peak usage for any bookings in the future. E.g. setting a value of 6 would limit a player to having only 6 future bookings.

If your club has more than one sport you can also limit the total number of bookings in the combined fields. For example, if squash has a daily peak limit of 1 and tennis also had a peak limit of 1, you may want a rule that states only one peak squash or one peak tennis is allowed a day. In such a case enter 1 in the Combined Limit row under Daily Peak Limit, as shown in the example Figure 13 Adding Membership Types

If the membership account is considered all-inclusive of any court fees then click this box. When courts are booked the cost associated for this member will be zero for the booking, though any guest fees are still applied.

If coaches book courts and the costs for the court are to be borne by the coach and not the member, check the **coaching account** box. The costs for coaches are configured on an individual court basis through the courts menu. If this box is not clicked then all playing members share the cost of the court equally.

The final fields allow discounts to be applied by sport against the standard pricing. These discounts can be set for peak and off-peak bookings. An example may be juniors, where they receive a 50% discount for using off peak courts.

Once the new type is created the table will list all membership types and the associated ID for each type. This ID is assigned to a member to identify their membership type and is mentioned in detail in the section covering the Structure of the Database. Please note if you delete a type then any members associated with this type will be defaulted back to *all sports*.

### Manage Membership Types

The following table lists all of the Membership Types, you can edit , delete or add new Types. The results can be further sorted, searched on and exported.

Show 10	✓ entries	Sea	rch:	Add	Edit	Сору	CSV	Excel	Delete
ID Iî	Membership Type 🛛 🖺	Billing Cycle	Cost (£)	Sync'd in Stripe	Jt	Disco	ount Cou	pon	lt
84	2018 10 a month	1 year	10.00	×		Perce	nt		
96	2021 Full	6 month	50.00	×					
35	ABC	3 month	30.00	×		Dec2	018		
80	Adult 2019	1 year	110.00	×					
88	Adult 2019 New	1 year	150.00	×					
89	Adult 2019 New 2	1 year	160.00	<b>v</b>					
82	Adult 2019-3	3 month	300.00	×					
11	Adult Open Day	1 year	240.00	×					
29	Adult Visitor	1 year	100.00	×					
25	Cancelled	1 year	0.00	×					

Showing 1 to 10 of 43 entries

Previous 1 2 3 4 5 Next

Figure 14 Membership Types detailing ID

# **Adding Member Accounts**

One of the most important tasks to complete and maintain is the member database. Initially you most likely will want to import the list of members from an existing system such as a spreadsheet or database. The Administration Panel allows you to do this through the Manage Database link on the left-hand Navigation Pane under Import / Export. Here you will be able to add membership types, add user defined fields to your database and upload a Comma Separated Variable (CSV) file containing your user accounts and export existing database information again in a CSV file.

To add, edit or delete existing member account details on an individual level the **members** link can be used, this will be discussed later in this document.

If you have your existing member database stored in Excel, Access or another type of database it is most likely that you will be able to export the data directly into a CSV file. This is a flat ASCII file with records contained within each line, with fields separated with commas. This may sound confusing and daunting but it is very simple to edit or even create your own CSV file directly and is made even easier if you use a spreadsheet application such as MS Excel to edit the data.

The following section describes in full the structure of the database and how to create your user database. In its most simple form, you only need to create a members list that contains only the required fields detailed in Part I of the Database Overview & Structure.

If you are having problems or need assistance in producing your members list then please log a support call at <a href="http://ebookingonline.net/support.html">http://ebookingonline.net/support.html</a>, we will be only too willing to help you through this the most complex part of the installation.

To add a custom field to your database click on the 'Edit DB Fields Button', a list will then be displayed of all your custom fields.

# Managing the Database

This section details how the database is built and customised to your own unique settings. It is possible to create your own fields and structure so that it meets you full requirements. The following sections give you an overview of the structure so that you can create your own bespoke membership database, or you can simple use the standard one provided that has most the data fields you would expect.

### **Database Overview & Structure**

All of your data is held in a secure SQL database. This database consists of three parts.

### Part I

To operate the standard court booking system only the standard database needs to be configured. The following table shows the available fields for members' details.

Field Name	Туре	Required	Description
User ID	Integer 100-9999	✓	User ID / Member No.
First Name	Characters (20)	$\checkmark$	First Name
Last Name	Characters (20)	$\checkmark$	Second Name
Password	Alpha numeric password	×	Password
PIN	4 digit number	×	PIN
Privilege Level	Integer 0 to 5	✓ defaults to 0 (normal)	Privilege Level
Email Address	Characters (40)	×	Email Address
Active	Boolean (1 or 0)	$\checkmark$ defaults to active (1)	Account enabled
Receive Emails	Boolean (1 or 0)	✓ defaults to 1 (set)	Member received emails
Receive rich text emails	Boolean (1 or 0)	✓ defaults to 1 (set)	Member receives emails in rich text
Membership Type ID	Integer *	<ul> <li>✓ defaults to 0 (all sports)</li> </ul>	Membership Type

\* the membership\_type ID is obtained when listing the membership types through the Administration Panel.

#### Notes:

PIN / PASSWORD The Password is used by a member when logging on to the system. This must be an alpha numeric password (minimum of 8 characters with at least one upper case character and one number). The PIN is used by members for basic authentication on a Touch Screen interface, typically a PC at the club. The PIN is used for editing bookings, marking attendance and entering league results into the Club PC. The PIN is a four-digit number between 1000 and 9999.

PRIVILEGE LEVEL There are 5 levels available. Level 0 is the basic level and should be used for all members. Level 0 users can only book, edit or cancel courts for themselves and only within a pre-configured number of days. Level 1 is reserved for touch screen logons, this user is the same as Level 0 only courts can be booked for any player. Level 2 is the same as Level 1 and can be used as an alternative for Clubs using a mouse rather than a touch screen display for the Club PC, the only difference is the use of a Calendar rather than a date picker. Level 4 users are members of staff or perhaps coaches that need to make multiple repeat bookings or special bookings. The main difference between level 4 and level 5 users is that level 4 users can only modify or delete their own bookings. Finally Level 5 is reserved for ADMINs or Staff of your club, these users can make, edit and cancel any booking at any time, make special event bookings such as team matches or coaching and block book courts.

**Note** only Priv level 0 user can actually be part of a booking. If a member of staff is also a playing member of the club they will need two accounts or the global option enabled to allow admins to book courts. For the vast majority of users this field should be set to 0.

### Part II

The second part of the database allows additional fields for the members' details. We have added a number of additional standard fields that will be common for most users, all of these however are optional for you to use. These fields are:

Field Name	Туре	Required
Salutation	Characters (8)	×
Address Line 1	Characters (30)	×
Address Line 2	Characters (30)	×
Address Line 3	Characters (30)	×
Address Line 4	Characters (30)	×
Postal Code	Characters (20)	×
Telephone	Characters (20)	×
Mobile	Characters (20)	×
Date of Birth	Date (dd/mm/yyyy)	×
Renewal Date	Date (dd/mm/yyyy)	×
Release_phone	Boolean (1 or 0)	<ul> <li>defaults to 0 (no release)</li> </ul>

If set the **release\_phone** field will list the member's telephone details in the Club Directory.

### Part III

The final structure of the database is the ability for you to add your own fields for members. We understand that "one size does not fit all....' as such you can add your own fields. These fields are added to your database using the Administration Control Panel Web Interface, this process is described below.

There are three types of Fields that can be added:

- **Text Fields** These are fields that compose of a string of text (up to 50 characters)
- Check Box This is a Check Box that is clicked to select it, it is either 'on' of 'off'
- **Drop Down** This is a field where the user makes a choice from a list, this list is preconfigured when creating the field

### Examples

### Text Field

First Marris		
First Name	John	

### Check Boxes



### Drop Boxes



logoff

The following section will describe how to create custom fields using the Administration Panel

### Administrator Login

The following table lists al	I of the Custom Options Field	ds in the Database, you can ed	t, delete or add new types

Main	Edit/View	Delete	Option Name	Туре	ID
Edit Club details & Manage Admins	6	6	British Tennis Mem #	Text Field	35
	6	6	Cancellation Reason	Text Field	30
Sports Manage available	6	61	Family Primary	Check Box	39
sports	6	6	Gift Aid Name1	Text Field	31
Courts	6	61	Gift Aid Name2	Text Field	43
Manage the courts available to each sport	6	୍ତିଶ	Gift Aid Salutation	Text Field	44
	ø	61	Profession	Text Field	32
Specials	6	୍ତିଶ	Prospect / Visitor	Check Box	42
Manage the special event types	ø	61	Racketball	Check Box	27
	6	61	Sex	Drop Down	34
Events Manage Group Events	ø	61	Squash	Check Box	26
	6	୍ତ୍ତି	Tennis	Check Box	25
Manage Database Create membership	6	61	Tennis Coach Squad	Drop Down	36
types, fields & Import / Export features	Add a new [	Database	Field Add Field		

Figure 15	Modifying	existing	db fields
-----------	-----------	----------	-----------

You can modify or delete existing entries here, but please note when deleting a custom field not only will the field be removed from the database but also the associated data for each entry. In addition you cannot modify the type of field (i.e. checkbox, text, dropdown) once it is created as this could potentially cause inconsistencies in your data, only the name can be changed using the edit function.

To add a new Custom Field click on the Add Type button.

You will then be promoted for the Field Name. This is the name that will appear next to your field when you view the database in the Administration Panel and the name in the *header row* when downloading the CSV file.

Next select the type of field you require, this will be either a checkbox, text field or dropdown box. If you select a dropdown box then you will be prompted for the list of options that will appear in the dropdown box when it is clicked.
logoff

In the following example we will create a drop down box for a new field called 'Primary Sport'. This field will have five options

Blank (or not set) Tennis Racket Ball Squash Table Tennis

# Administrator Login

<mark>Main</mark> Edit Club details & Manage Admins	To add Membership Field Options to the database please update the details below and click Save.						
Sports	For drop down boxes please en	ter each option on a newline					
Manage available	Option Name:	Primary Sport					
	Туре	Drop Down 🗸					
Courts Manage the courts available to each sport	Drop down field names:	Tennis					
Specials Manage the special event types	Add Field	Racket Ball Squash Table Tennis					
Events Manage Group Events							



Note the blank line to start with, if you do not want to have a blank option in the list then this itself is optional but if you do want a blank it is best to put this at the beginning of this list; this gives the user the option of not setting this field.

When data is entered into the database, and exported as CSV's, the value for text fields will be the text entered, for a checkbox it will be '1' if checked otherwise it will be '0' or blank for unchecked and for a dropdown box it will be a number relating to the list. In the previous examples the blank would be '0', Tennis would be '1', Racketball would be '2' and so on.

This concept is important to understand when importing data from CSV files as discussed in the following sections.

## **Uploading from a CSV file**

For many administrators manually entering all of the membership information for the first time may become a tiresome task, especially if the data already exists in another application. This section details how to create a CSV that is compatible with the booking system database.

The best starting point is to build the database with your custom fields as described so far that you require and perhaps fill in one member with all of the details just for reference. Then export the FULL database as a CSV file and save this to your local PC. By opening up the CSV file in a TEXT editor or EXCEL you will be able to see the format that is used including your custom fields.

To export the database select Manage Database from the main menu of the Administration Panel and then select import/export.

Administrator Lo	gin							logoff			
ulk Upload of Members from '	.csv file										
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics	You o Pleas datab	You can Bulk upload the member database from a csv (comma seperated variable) file. Please note that existing records will NOT be overwritten unless you select the check box below, please ensure you have a back up of the existing database first by exporting it below. The back format for the OCV file is:									
Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	mem	membership number, first name, last name, password, pin, privilege level, email address, active, receive emails, receive rich text emails, membership type#									
Sports Manage available sports	For a Note log o pass	For additional options such as membership types, extended details, custom details and email preferences please consult the Administration Guide Note that Privilege Level of 0 is the standard level, 1 is for touch screens, 2 for Standard club pc's and 5 for Admins In order for the member to be able to log on to the system the password must be set, if it is not specified then the account will still be active but the member will not be able to log on remotely. All passwords should be 8 or more characters, containing at least one Uppercase and one number, email addresses are optional as well as the pin, this is									
Courts Manage the courts available to each sport	used Here	is an Exa	onfirmations on mple using Exc	touchscreen / cli el, save this file a	ub terminals. as a .csv file to your l	ocal comp	outer and use t	the form below to upload it.			
Special Events		А	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	I	
Manage the special	1	User ID	First Name	Last Name	Password	PIN	Priv Level	Email Address	Active	Receive Email	5
event types	2	8899	John	Smith	SmithPassw0rd	3581	. (	john.smith@hotmail.com	1		1
Group Events Manage Group Events	3	8890 8891	Vera Andy	Williams	VeraPass1rd AndyPass1	5825 3048		andy@example.com			1
Manage Database Create membership types, fields & Import / Export features	The f your Tenn Pros	following .CSV file iis, Squas pect / Visi	optional DB fi h, Racketball, itor, Gift Aid N	elds are configu Cancellation Re ame2, Gift Aid S	ared, these will be a eason, Gift Aid Nam calutation,	dded to y e1, Profe	your database ssion, Sex, B	in the following order if preser	nt and in o ach Squa	order at the end d, Family Primai	of y,
Members Manage Member account details & payments	Se Se	lect this op nd each m	tion if your wis ember a welco	h to update existi me email with log	ing records 🗌 gin details 🗹						
Sponsorship Create or Edit your sponsor's details	File	ename to u	ipload Choos	e file No file o	chosen	Up	load file				
Reports View Booking Statistics	To dow	nload / Ex	port the Membe	ership database i	n .csv format <mark>click h</mark>	ere					

### Figure 17 Exporting the Database

At the bottom of the page you will find a link (click here) to export the current database. Click this and the following screen will be displayed.

# Administrator Login

Bulk Download of Members to a \*.csv file

Main	Here you can export / download the membership database as a .CSV file.
Edit Club details &	This can be used as a backup, and can be used to export the data, modify it, and copy it back.
Manage Admins	Please note that existing records will NOT be overwritten, the format for the CSV file is:
<mark>Sports</mark>	membership number, first name, last name, password, privilege level, email address
Manage available	Please note the passwords are exported in a hash (encrypted) and cannot be read or retrieved.
sports	However if you upload the same encrypted password back into the Database the PIN /
Courts	Password will be retained.
Manage the courts	If you require the FULL extended membership database exporting please check the box below
available to each sport	and select the date format
Specials Manage the special event types	Export extended Database Date Format dd/mm/yyyy v The file will be downloaded to your PC, you may have to SAVE AS to save it locally as a text file
Events Manage Group Events	Export

### **Figure 18 Export Options**

There are two options you can select before you start exporting. To enable the export of the extended and customised database select the checkbox, without this checked only the standard fields are exported. Next to it you will see an option for selecting the correct date format that you which to use. Once you have made your choices click **Export**. Please note that this will not affect any of your existing data. Depending on the browser you are using you will then be prompted what to do with the newly created CSV file, normally you would save this to your local PC in my documents or the desktop.

The header line of the CSV file shows the order of the standard, then extended and finally customised fields. In our customised example with our test user we have the following two lines.

## [First Line – Header]

User ID,First Name,Last Name,Password,PIN,Priv Level,Email Address,Active,Receive Emails,Receive Rich Text,Membership Type ID,Salutation,Address1,Address2,Address3,Address4,Postcode,Tel,Mobile,Date of Birth,Renewal Date,Release\_phone,Gift Aid,Primary Member,Main Sport

logoff

## [Second Line – Data]

9209, Michael, Jones, da39a3ee5e6b4b0d3255bfef95601890afd80709, 1234, 0, m. jones@hotmail.com, 1, 1, 1, 1, Mr, 3 Badgers Gardens, Some Place, Some Where, , EE77 9UY, 0208 3535251, 07655433921, 15/03/1980, 31/12/1969, 1, Mike Jones, , 2

The standard and extended fields follow the syntax described in the beginning of this section. If they are optional and omitted in the data section of the CSV file then the default value will be applied to the entry.

Please note if using a comma within the data of a variable then this needs to be escaped in double quotes, this is the standard operation for most CSV aware applications such as Access and Excel. For example if address line was *3*, *Badgers Gardens*, then the entry would look like.

9209, Michael, Jones, da39a3ee5e6b4b0d3255bfef95601890afd80709, 1234, 0, m. jones@hotmail.com, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, Mr, "3, Badgers Gardens", Some Place, Somewhere, EE77 9UY, 0208 3535251, 07655433921, 15/03/1980, 31/12/1969, 1, Mike Jones, 2

Note that in the last of the customised fields section [Main Sport] the data value given is 2. As this is a dropdown box then this would be the third entry in the list (including the blank line) i.e. 0,1,2. In our example 2 was Racket Ball as seen on page 27 of our member Michael Jones. When populating custom dropdown fields you will always need to enter the corresponding line number for your CSV file.

## Uploading a Modified or New CSV File

As discussed earlier it would be best to create your Database Structure with any customised fields and then export the database to your local PC so that you can verify the structure and build your new CSV locally. We would recommend keeping your original database as a backup and for future reference.

MS Excel is an ideal application for doing this as most existing database structures have the ability to export to this format and manipulating data is relatively straight forward.

If you only require the basic requirements for the system the base structure will look like the following shown in Excel and flat text file

Example CSV file edited with Excel

	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	I.	J	K	L
1	User ID	First Name	Last Name	Password	PIN	Priv Level	Email Address	Active	Receive Emails	Receive Rich Text	Members	nip Type ID
2	104	Richard	Harris	Password1	1212	0		0	0	1	22	
3	109	Peter	Hobbs	Password2	1214	0		0	0	1	22	
4	122	Sian	Powell	Password3	1216	0		0	0	1	22	
5												

The same file in raw ASCII format which can be edited using notepad.

"mdump-12-09-2021-1.csv - Notepad File Edit Format View Help User ID,First Name,Last Name,Password,PIN,Priv Level,Email Address,Active,Receive Emails,Receive Rich Text,Membership Type ID 104,Richard,Harris,Password1,1212,0,,0,0,1,22 109,Peter,Hobbs,Password2,1214,0,,0,0,1,22 122,Sian,Powell,Password3,1216,0,,0,0,1,22

Once the new CSV file is created on your local PC it can be uploaded to the Online Database by selecting **manage database** on the left-hand navigation menu and then **import / export** button.

Administrator Log	jin							logoff		
ulk Upload of Members from *.c	csv file									
Dashboard Vlew key analytics & statistics	You o Pleas datat	can Bulk u se note tha base first t	pload the memi at existing recor by exporting it b	ber database from ds will NOT be o elow.	m a csv (comma sepe verwritten unless you	erated var select the	iable) file. e check box b	elow, please ensure you have a b	back up of	the existing
Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	mem	membership number, first name, last name, password, pin, privilege level, email address, active, receive emails, receive rich text emails, membership type#								
Sports Manage available sports	For a Note log o	dditional of that Privil n to the sy words sho	options such as ege Level of 0 is stem the passy	membership typ s the standard le vord must be set, e characters, cor	es, extended details, vel, 1 is for touch scr , if it is not specified t training at least one l	custom de eens, 2 fo hen the ac	etails and em r Standard clu ccount will stil	ail preferences please consult the Ib pc's and 5 for Admins In order 1 I be active but the member will no other email addresses are options	Administr for the me of be able t	ation Guide mber to be able to to log on remotely. A as the nin, this is
Courts Manage the courts available to each sport	used Here	only for c	onfirmations on mple using Exc	e characters, con touchscreen / ch el, save this file a	ub terminals. as a .csv file to your le	ocal comp	uter and use	the form below to upload it.	ar as well e	ia ure pin, una la
Special Events	1	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	H	1
Manage the special event types	1	User ID	First Name	Last Name	Password	PIN	Priv Level	Email Address	Active	Receive Emails
	2	8899	Vora	Duckworth	VeraPass1rd	5925		vera@example.com	1	1
Group Events Manage Group Events	4	8891	Andy	Williams	AndyPass1	3048		andy@example.com	1	1
Manage Database Create membership types, fields & Import / Export features	The f your Tenn Pros	following .CSV file is, Squas pect / Vis	optional DB fi h, Racketball, itor, Gift Aid N	elds are configu Cancellation Re ame2, Gift Aid S	ason, Gift Aid Name alutation,	ided to y e1, Profes	our database ssion, Sex, B	in the following order if presentitish Tennis Mem #, Tennis Co	nt and in ach Squa	order at the end of d, Family Primary,
Members Manage Member account details & payments	Se Se	lect this op nd each m	otion if your wis nember a welco	h to update existi me email with log	ing records 🗌 gin details 🔽					
Sponsorship Create or Edit your sponsor's details	File	ename to u	upload Choos	e file No file o	chosen	Upl	load file			
Reports View Booking Statistics	To dow	nload / Ex	port the Membe	ership database i	n .csv format <mark>click h</mark>	ere				

# Figure 19 Uploading CSV file to the Database

By default, if a membership number (USER ID) already exists then the data will NOT be overwritten when uploading a CV file and any errors when uploading will be displayed at this time. If however you wish to update existing members' information them check the box Select this option to update existing records.

Next click the **Choose File** button to select your local CSV file then click **Upload file**.

Your file will now be uploaded and entries added / updated to the database. Please note any errors that occur during this process. All errors will detail the line number of your CSV file and why that particular record failed. With this information revisit your CSV file and make any changes necessary and upload the file again.

Creating your Database can be a daunting task, and it is only a task that you should complete once. At eBookingOnline we appreciate that this is not an easy task unless you are an expert in databases, Access or Excel. As such eBookingOnline offer a free service to help you get your database loaded from an existing source. Please feel free to log a call using the ticketing system at <u>http://tickets.ebookingonline.net</u> and we will help in getting you up and running.

# **Adding & Editing Individual Members**

Once your database is populated you can edit, delete or add more users on an individual basis. From the left-hand navigation pane of the Administration Panel click on the Members link to bring up the following screen.

# Membership Details

This table lists out all members. You can filter on any field by using the search box, all results can be be sorted by multiple columns and the final results exported into various formats. Use the buttons to edit or view each record.

Show 15 T	entries Active Me	mbers only 🗌 Searc	ch:		Add	Ed	it Payments	Сору	CSV	Excel	Delete
Last Name 🛛 👢	First Name 🛛 👢	Member No. 🥼	Email 11	Тур	e	11	Renewal Date	łt	Active	11	
Abbott	Diane	1000	d.abbott@mp.com	Lab	our		2010-03-02		×		
Adams	Gerry	1001	gerry@mp.com	Cor	nservativ	/e	2010-03-30		×		
Adams	John	2408		Cor	nservativ	/e	0000-00-00		<b>~</b>		
Adams	John Admin	2409		All	Sports		0000-00-00		<b>~</b>		
Admin	Club	5002	admin@mp.com	Cor	nservativ	/e	2020-03-23		<b>~</b>		
Afriyie	Adam	1002		Lab	our		2010-03-31		×		
Ainsworth	Bob	1005	john@pellingsfarm.co.uk	Lib	eral		2018-04-30		×		
Alexander	Danny	1006		All	Sports		0000-00-00		×		
Alexander	Douglas	1007		All	Sports				×		
Allen	Graham	1008		All	Sports				×		
Amess	David	1009		All	Sports				×		
Ancram	Michael	1010		All	Sports				<b>~</b>		
Anderson	David	1011		All	Sports				×		
Anderson	Janet	1012		All	Sports				×		
Arbuthnot	James	1013		All	Sports				×		
Chowing 1 to 15 of 6	40 optrios										

Showing 1 to 15 of 649 entri

Previous 1 2 3 4 5 ... 44 Next

### Figure 20 Adding / Editing Individual Members

A tabular list of members is displayed, the next and prev links at the bottom of the page can be used to navigate through the list.

To find a member to change either enter their membership number or the first 2 or 3 characters of their last name into the **SEARCH** field, a list of those members matching your search criteria will be displayed.

To edit a member select the member, or double click the member and click on the Edit button. This will bring up a dialogue box that enables you to change all of the information except the membership number. If you maximise your browser you should be able to see all of the data fields on one visible page, this will allow you to enter the full details of your member including your custom fields. You can also disable the account here which is regarded as a better option than deleting the account. Disabled users cannot book any courts or logon to the system, but their past booking information can be recalled from the database.

You cannot retrieve a member's password once it is entered, this is because it is stored in a one-way encryption hash. It is however possible to reset a member's Password and PIN by clicking on the Change Members Password link.

If you do wish to permanently delete a member, select the member and then click on the **Delete** button. This action cannot be undone.

To add a new individual member click on the Add button from the top of the table.

By default, a new member is assigned the next available membership number in series of the existing membership. You can however overwrite this and enter any number that is unique i.e., is not currently in use. Again, by default the membership account will be enabled, if you do not want this account to be enabled un-tick the box.

Next enter the members Name, Membership Type (defaults to *all sports*), privilege level and email address (optional).

If the Password field is left blank then court bookings can be made for this member but the account details cannot be used to log on to the system. If a valid email address is entered the member can also reset their Password by clicking on the *Forgotten Password* link of the main login screen of the Court Booking System.

Continue adding all of the member's details including the optional fields such as address, and of course your customer fields.

When all of the information has been entered click on the SAVE button to save the information. If there are any errors these will be listed in red, please correct the errors and select the SAVE button.

**Note**: By default all member accounts added in this way will be enabled, receive email confirmations and prefer rich text emails by default. These settings can be modified individually when editing the member account.

Welcome emails are also sent if a valid email address is given. These emails will contain information on how to access the booking system and the login credentials.



Add a new member, please update member details and click save

Main Edit Club details & Manage Admins	Membership No. First Name	8009 John				
Sports Manage available	LastName	Smith				
sports	Membership Type	44				
Courts Manage the courts	Priv Level	0				
available to each sport	Email	john.smith@hotmail.com				
Specials	Edit this member					
Manage the special event types	Note: If the PIN is left blank the new member is active but they cannot logon using their membership number, this requires the pin to be set. If an email address is present the member has the option to					
Events Manage Group Events	set a new PIN from the forgotton password link.					

### Figure 21 Adding a New Member

## **Viewing & Editing Member Information**

Once the structure of your database is set up as required using the standard, extended and custom fields, you can start to populate or expand data into it.

From the Administration Panel select the **members** link from the left-hand menu and select Add Member or modify an existing member by clicking on the Edit button. This will display all of your data fields, including any custom fields that have been added, expanding or maximising your browser you should be able to view all fields on a single page as shown below.

**Administration Guide** 

eBookingOnline.net	Court	Booking	Software
--------------------	-------	---------	----------

Member No.	8018 Change member's Passwor	d Family Primary	
Member PIN no.	···· (5) Change	Tennis	
First Name		Squash	
Filst Name	кау	Racketball	
Last Name	Adams	Prospect / Visitor	
Membership Type	Full Adult Member	<ul> <li>Cancellation Reason</li> </ul>	
Changing the Membership T	ype will update any subscription with immediate eff	ect	
Privilege Level	0 - Ordinary Account	Gift Aid Name1	
Email	john.smith@hpe.com	Profession	
	Active Receive Rich	Sex Text	Male 🔹
	Emails Ema	ls British Tennis Mem #	
Salutation	Mr	Tennis Coach Squad	
Renewal Date		Gift Aid Name2	
Date of Birth		Gift Aid Salutation	
Address	1 Rotherview		
	Onin Read		
	Cain Road		
	Somewhere		
Postal Code	RG12 1HN Included in Direct	ory	
Telephone	Landline Mobile/Cell		
	01783622222 01783622222		
Save Edit /	Add Payments Back		

### Figure 22 Editing Individual Members

Simply make any changes you want and click on the Save button at the bottom of the page

## Group Membership

If the membership type selected for the user is a type with the Group Membership checked then there will be an additional checkbox "**Primary Member**". Enabling this field selects this member as the primary member for membership renewals. Changing the active status or membership renewal date will change the fields for all associated members of this group.

Membership No.	2408	Change member's PIN
First Name	John	
Last Name	Smith	
Membership Type	Family Membersh	nip 🔻
Primary Member	Edit / View	Group Members

Figure 23 Group Membership Types

To view, add or remove members to the group simply click on the link Edit / View Group Members and a pop-up window will list will display current sub members. You can add existing members to this group by typing the first few characters of their name in the Add Existing Member field, or you can add a new member from here by clicking the New button. Note when adding a new member in this method the postal address and home phone numbers are copied from the primary account, these can be modified if necessary.

To remove a member from the group click on the trash icon next to the member under **Remove**.

Name	Member Number	Remove
Josh Adams	5457	61
Imogen Adams	5764	01
dd an Existing Member	Last Name	Add
5		
dd New Member	Nour	

Figure 24 Modifying Group Members

Please note that any members added to the group will have their membership type and renewal date changed to the values of the primary member. If a member is removed from the group then their membership type remains the same but they are no longer a sub member or primary member.

When viewing a sub member account the fields for Membership Type and Renewal Date cannot be changed as these are defined by the primary account. The sub account also details who the primary member is giving a link to the primary member's details.

# **Using the League System**

## **Overview**

Once the member database is completed you can then take advantage of the inbuilt league system. Typically, this where organisations have internal leagues where players play against each other in divisions.

The system works on a ranking order of players, best being ranked higher, that is the best player being '1'. Leagues are then created based on your preferences of league size, by assigning players to individual divisions; this is known as a schedule that has a beginning and end date. Match results are then recorded on the system and at the end of the schedule the administrator closes off the schedule. In doing this results are calculated and points awarded based on your preferences, players are then re-ranked promoting and demoting players, again based on your preferences. The administrator can at this time view the new ranking order and add new players or remove players before creating a new schedule.

Match results can be entered by individual members, though they can only enter their own results, or by a club admin with a privilege of 5, or by the system or league administrator using the Administration Panel. To enter results simply type them into the boxes – what could be easier.

# **Creating a New League**

To enable the leagues feature simply select Leagues from the left-hand navigation pane and then click on manage leagues. The first time you click on this you will be prompted to enable the league system. This will create the necessary database tables and enable the league system. To disable the league system, go to the main page of the admin panel click edit and change the system preferences by un-checking the leagues option.

# Manage the League System

League Administration Page, here you can customize and manage your Club Leagues

Create & Manage Here you can set up and edit your leagues.	
Manage Leagues	
League Members This is where you add players to your leagues, the order in which they appear is their relative ranking within the league.	
Manage Players	
Schedules Create a new league schedule with start and end dates, note this will end any current schedule.	
Schedules	
View / Edit Leagues View leagues, edit results and print out leagues.	
View Leagues	

#### Figure 25 League System Main Menu

Once enabled you must begin by first creating a League, such as Tennis, Squash or Ladies Tennis.

You can then add or edit your leagues, by entering the following setting:

League Name	This is the name by which your league will be known as e.g. Ladies Tennis
Ideal no.	This is the ideal number of players in each division, this will always be attempted first.
Minimum no.	This is the minimum number of players in each league. Using these ideal and minimum values the number of leagues and number of players in each will be calculated honouring these two rules.
Points for win	When calculating the results this is the number of points awarded for a match win.
Points for Playing each game	The number of points awarded for just playing a game

Points for each point scored	The number of points awarded for each point scored, e.g. if the result for player A vs. B was 3:2, the player A would receive 3 x {entered value}, typically this value is 1.
Points awarded for playing all games	Should a player play all of their league games then these additional points will be added to their current score.
Number of players promoted / demoted	When the schedule is closed off all points are calculated in each division. The highest will be promoted and the lowest demoted in the ranking order.
Squash Levels Area	Should you wish league results to be uploaded to Squash Levels then enable this but selecting the appropriate area of your club. Please note by enabling this feature you automatically agree to share this information with Squash Levels. Individual members can opt in or opt of squash levels via the manage account link of the booking system.

## Click Save to create or edit your league

# Manage Individual League

Please complete the form below to Add or Edit each league and click save.

League Name	Racket Ball
ldeal no. in each league	5 •
Minimum no. in each league	2 •
Points awarded for a win	0 •
Points awarded for playing each match	1 •
Points awarded for each point scored	1 •
Points deducted for each point lost	0 •
Points awarded for playing all games	0 •
Number of players promoted / demoted	2 •
Squash Levels Area (optional)	Disabled •
	By enabling this function you agree
Send notification emails to members	
Prefer cell/mobile as contact no.	
Save Back	

### Figure 26 Adding or editing a League Structure

Click League Home to go back to the main leagues page.

## **Adding Players**

Once the league(s) have been created you can add players from the member database into each league. It is best to add them in order of ranking but it is very easy to change this as and when required. To start adding players click Manage Players.

If there are any players assigned to this league then they will be listed otherwise you will be prompted to add some. Adding players is easy, just start typing either their first or last name and a list of matching players will be displayed, then simply click on the player you want to add.

Ma	ana	ge Le	eague M	embe	ers	Lea
Use t	his pa	ge to add	or remove or mo	ve around	players within each league. You can also add partner	s to entrants, for example doubles le
Selec	ct Leag	gue		Racket E	3all 🔹	
Add	Player			ada		
To ad playe playe	ld a pla r at a s r. You	ayer enter specific po can chang	the first few lette sition, first selec ge the ranking or	ers of the t an exist der of ead	The following names were found, click to add Frank Adair	from the list displayed. To insto to be positioned before adding icon.
		Rank	Name		John Adams Ben Adams	Delete
î	1	1	John Adams		Josh Adams Jim Adams	
			Jane Adams		Imogen Adams John T Adams	
t	1	2	Paul Adams		Nathan Adams11	
î	1	3	Jack Adams			1

## Figure 27 Adding Players to a League

You will soon be building up an ordered list of players, this forms the ranking. Players can be moved up or down the rankings simply by clicking on the green up and down arrows. If you want to add a new player at a particular place in the ranking then first click on the existing player that will be directly above where the new player is to be positioned before adding the new player.

Players can also be removed from the league by clicking on the trashcan.

Once finished click on Leagues Home to go back

## **Creating Schedules**

The following schedules are active							
Name	Start Date	Finish Date	Close				
Racket Ball	21-02-2022	25-02-2022	2				
Leagues Home							
To add a new scheo	dule complete the following	form					
League	Squash	•					
Start Date							
Finish Date							
Next	Cancel						
To Rollback to the previous Schedule select the league to rollback Rollbacks will back out the current schedule to the previous schedule, note this cannot be reversed							
League	Racket Ball	•					
Rollback							

To create a schedule (or to close one off) click on Schedules. Select the league that you want to schedule and enter start and finish dates. Please note that match results can only be entered between these dates unless you are an administrator.

Click Next to start the schedule wizard. The next page will show a preview of how the leagues will be created by default based on your settings. These can be adjusted as needed by using the sliders on the righthand side. You can adjust the size of each division or even add and remove divisions, note that the number in each division must add up to the total number of members. Once you're happy just click on **Confirm**.



Figure 28 Adjusting the size of each division

A list of active schedules will then be displayed and your leagues are now active. Click on Leagues Home to go back.

The following schedules are active							
Name	Start Date	Finish Date	Close				
Squash	17-04-2022	20-04-2022					
Leagues Home							



By now clicking on View Leagues, from the Leagues Home page, you can select a league to view, this is the same view that a member will see when logging on through the user interface. You can also look at passed league schedules but once closed off these cannot be modified. To enter results just click where you want to enter the result, this will highlight the box and the corresponding box.

Leagues Home																
To enter any match	results sim	ply click	in the box	es and er	nter the sco	ore for eac	h player.									
Select League Squash *																
Leagues Start on 1	7-04-2022 a	and finish	n on 20-04	-2022												
< Previous																
Division 1	Division 1 Division 2															
Name		1	2	3	4	5	6	Pts	Name	1	2	3	4	5	6	Pts
1. John Adams (7836233261)					I				1. David Blunt (1111111)							
2. Jim Adams (111111111)									2. Bill Smithers (07836233261)							
3. Frank Adair									3. Caitlyn Stone (07957 203605)							
4. Ben Adams (07780 814355)									4. Tony Doolan (7899755102)							
5. Imogen Adams (07875 463739)									5. Fred James (1111111)							
6. John T Adams (11111)									6. Joanna Gould							

### Figure 30 View of Leagues

## **Printing Leagues**

There is a **Printer Friendly** link when displaying divisions, this takes you to a similar page but with the divisions shown and in black and white.

When printing you will need to change three settings so that what you see on the screen is what you get. Please note that only Internet Explorer and Firefox support these functions, Google Chrome does not allow these.

## **Closing off a Schedule**

Once the end date of a schedule is passed only the league administrator can enter or edit results. It is therefore important to review the current results before closing off a schedule. Once a schedule is closed off it cannot be re-opened. You can though rollback the schedule to the previous version.

If all of the results are in order as viewed on the Administration Panel, then go to Leagues > Schedules and you will see a list of active schedules. Simply click on the close icon to close off the schedule.

The following schedules are active							
Name	Start Date	Finish Date	Close	l.			
Squash	17-04-2022	20-04-2022					
Leagues Home							

#### Figure 31 Closing a Schedule

You will need to confirm that you want to close off this schedule by clicking OK. You will then be taken to the members' page showing the newly calculated ranking order. You can adjust this manually, or add and delete players. Once this is satisfactory then a new schedule can be created.

## **Rolling Back a Schedule**

Should you want to revert to the previous schedule, for instance a mistake was made or alterations need to be made, then it is possible to go to the previous league schedule by selecting the **Rollback** option. Please note that all information for the current schedule will be deleted and cannot be recovered. Once rolled back the schedule can be edited as needed.

To Rollback to the previous Schedule select the league to rollback					
Rollbacks will back out the current schedule to the previous schedule, note this cannot be reversed					
League	Squash	•			
Rollback					

Figure 32 rolling back a schedule

# **Using Competitions**

To create competitions, from the main menu select Leagues and Competitions and then at the bottom of the page click on Manage Competitions. If this is the first time you will be asked to enable competitions, please select YES to do so.

## **Creating a Competition**

A list of existing competitions will be displayed in a table. To add a competitions, click on the add button.

Competition Set-up					
Please complete the form below to con	figure or update the Competition and click save.				
To add or modify the entrants for this co	ompetition, please click on th <b>Entrants</b> button below.				
Competition Name					
Sport	Tennis				
Competition Type	Open Competition •				
Entrant Cost (£)	0				
Description / Rules					
	2				
	ee.				
Save Cancel					



First, name your competition and select the sport that this applies to. The Competition Type can be either Open, Closed or Handicapped. At the time of writing these are just labels for future use. It is up to the admin if they want to allow Guests to the competition when adding individuals.

The **Cost** of the Competition is also just for information. Future versions of this will deduct competition fees from the members digital wallet / account balance.

The **Description** field is a free text field giving additional information about this competition to entrants.

Once saved your base competition has now been created. You can change the above settings at any time by selecting the competition and clicking on the **edit** button.

When editing the competition, additional fields are now available. This includes any dates assigned to each round of the competition and the status of the competition.

Until the number of entrants is determined, the number of rounds and hence dates cannot be known. Once you have stopped taking entrants and defined each round, then you can enter the dates for each round.

The default status of a competition is **open** meaning that members can join and admins can add either members or guests to the competition. Members can join a competition either through the desktop site or the mobile webapp. See below for more information on this.

Published means that the competition is now closed to new entrants and that members can pay their matches and enter results for each round.

Closed means that the competition is close and no further results can be entered. The competition results can still be viewed.

Archived is the same as closed but the results / competition can no longer be viewed by members.

## **Adding Entrants**

Entrants can be added by clicking on the entrants button either when editing the competition or when listing all competitions from the table. Members can add themselves to competitions using the competitions section of the booking system or they can be added by an admin of the booking system.

To add a **member** click on Add Member, a dialogue will be presented:

Add Member	×
Search Name	
Rank	Handicap
	Close Add Member

Typing the first few characters of a name will produce a dropdown list of members to add. Select the member you would like to add. The rank and handicap fields have no relevance and will be used for future

releases of the software. Click add member to add the member. You can continue to add more members here, once finished click on close to return to the entrants page.

Guests can be added in a similar way by clicking on the **Guest** button. The name is a free text field to enter their name.

Once finished the basic two rounds of a competition are displayed with empty slots for each place. Two rounds are shown as they may have to include byes if the number of entrants is not 8, 16, 32 etc., so that by round 3 there should be no byes.

Add	member Add Guest Publish		
	First David	Occured Decord	Estant De al
	First Round	Second Round	Entrant Pool
1.	DROP HERE		John Battle
		ТВА	Peter Atkinson
2.	DROP HERE		Margaret Beckett
3.	DROP HERE		
		ТВА	Philip Dunne
4.	DROP HERE		Jane Kennedy
			King Charles
5.	DROP HERE		
6.	DROP HERE	ТВА	BYE
			DROP HERE TO RETURN TO POOL
7.	DROP HERE		
		ТВА	TRAG & DROP HERE TO DELETE
8.	DROP HERE		

# Competition Name: Summer Open

### Figure 34 Basic Competition Entrants

## **Compiling the Competition**

Once you have added the entrants, or entrants have added themselves to the competition, you can now compile the competition. This is very easy to do by dragging and dropping each entrant, guest or bye to the position you want. You can also move entrants back to the POOL by dragging them back to the Return to Pool Box. You can also remove entrants by dragging their to the DELETE ITEMS box.

Where a bye is selected the opponent will automatically be selected for round 2. Once all positions are filled you will notice that the publish button turns a dark red. If you're happy with how the competition looks clicking this sets the status to published. Entrants are colour coded: members are orange, guests red and bye a light green.



# Competition Name: Summer Open

### Figure 35 Competition ready to be published

The competition is now published and displayed as a member would see it. At this point, now that the number of rounds is determined, you can go back to edit the competition and add dates to each round. This is optional.

## **Entering results**

The winner of each round is simply dragged and dropped by either the admin or one of the players in each round to the next stage. Admins can enter all results, but members can only record their own matches. The results can only be changed by an admin or by the winning member by dragging their name back to the previous round.

Once a competition is finished it would be best to set the status to closed and then after a while set old competitions to archived.

# **Adding Sponsorship**

If you would like to acknowledge any sponsors to your Court Booking System you can do so in two ways. Firstly, you can place you sponsor's logo on the header of each page, and secondly a custom sponsor message can be appended to each confirmation email sent with each booking.

By clicking on the **Sponsorship** menu of the left-hand side of the screen you will bring up the following screen.

dit your s	ponso	or's message bel	ow that will	appear i	n rich te	ext at the	bottom	of each e	mail ser	nt							
File E	dit	View Insert	Format	Tools	Tabl	le											
5 0	>	Paragraph	$\sim$	B I	<u>A</u>	~ <u>*</u>	. ~	≡ ≡	≣	≣	Ξ	$\sim$	- ×	Ē	Ĭ	9	Į
umber of Update	Char	acters used: 267	' (Max 1024	1)													
umber of Update dit your s	Char ponso	acters used: 267	' (Max 1024 I appear at	the Top o	ofeach	Page											

Figure 36 Adding Sponsorship

The first thing to note is the Global Status, by default this will be disabled the first time you visit this screen. When the Sponsorship is disabled neither the sponsor's logo will appear on the top of the screen nor will any custom message be displayed with emails.

To change the Status select enabled or disabled and click on update

The default format for the sponsor's message in emails is rich text (html). Here you can use the standard buttons to change the colours and styles of fonts and add links to web pages using the link icon (second to last) by first highlighting the text you want to appear as a link. If you a familiar with HTML code you can also edit the message directly by clicking on the html button. To save any changes click on update.

If emails are sent in plain text format you don't have to change a thing the system will automatically convert the rich text message into standard plain text.

Finally, the sponsor's logo can be added to the head of each web page. Your logo should be 42px by no more than 315px or within a ratio of 7.5:1 (height x width), the system will automatically resize the image to these proportions based on height if it can, if not you image will appear clipped or squashed. The upload size of your image is also limited to a file size of 75k. If you image does not meet these requirements a warning message will be displayed. Simply select the name of your local file with the **browse** button and then **upload**, your image will automatically appear on the screen and when you visit your main Court Booking pages.

# **Check List**

By now your site should be operational, the URL for which is display on the Main page of the Administration Panel shown in Figure 2.

To re-cap the following needs to be configured:

Main Club Details Configure the Member Database either manually or by uploading a CSV file Configure the Sports for your club Configure the Courts within each sport Configure Special Events (optional)

EBOOKIN	G	eBooking C	Online Dem	no Site	1		1	1999
embracing techno sporting advan	ology for Sponsored Itages HEPT/	tel 01891 65432				10 P		WWW.EBOOKINGONLINE.NET
Tennis Squ	uash							Time now 2:27:31 pm
Court 1	Court 3	Court 4	Court 5	Court 6	Court 7 (Clay)	Court 8 (Clay)	Court 9 (Clay)	Mon, 18th Apr 2022
14:00 Booked	14:00 Available	14:00 Available	14:00 Available	14:00 Mixed Doubles	14:00 Mixed Doubles	Lords Event	Lords Event	Sign in
14:30 Booked	14:30 Booked	<u>14:30</u> Booked	14:30 Available	14:30 Mixed Doubles	14:30 Mixed Doubles	14:30 Available	14:30 Available	
<u>15:00</u> Booked	<u>15:00</u> Booked	15:00 Booked	15:00 Available	15:00 Mixed Doubles	15:00 Available	15:00 Available	15:00 Cleaning	
15:30 Available	15:30 Booked	15:30 Available	15:30 Booked	15.30 Available	<u>15.30</u> Booked	15:30 Available	15:30 Cleaning	April    2022 Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 27 28 29 30 31 1 2
16:00 Available	<u>16:00</u> Booked	16:00 Available	<u>16:00</u> Booked	16:00 Booked	<u>16:00</u> Booked	16:00 Nigels Party	<u>16:00</u> Cleaning	3         4         5         6         7         8         9           10         11         12         13         14         15         16           17         18         19         20         21         22         23
16:30 Team Match	16:30 Available	16:30 Available	16:30 Available	16:30 Booked	16:30 Booked	16:30 Nigels Party	16:30 Available	24         25         26         27         28         29         30           1         2         3         4         5         6         7           < Previous         Next >
17:00 Team Match	Coaching	17:00 Booked	17:00 Available	17:00 Booked	17:00 Available	17:00 Nigels Party	17:00 Orange Group	
17:30 Team Match	17:30 Coaching	17:30 Booked	17:30 Available	17:30 Available	17:30 Mixed Doubles	17:30 Nigels Party	17:30 Orange Group	
18:00 Available	18:00 Coaching	18:00 Booked	18:00 Available	18:00 Available	18:00 Mixed Doubles	18:00 Nigels Party	18:00 Orange Group	
18:30 Available	18:30 Available	18:30 Available	18:30 Available	18:30 Available	18:30 Available	18:30 Nigels Party	18:30 Orange Group	
19:00 Available	19:00 Available	Booked	19:00 Available	19.00 Coaching Ray	19:00 Available	19:00 Mixed Doubles	19:00 Available	
	19:30 Coaching	19:30 Booked	19:30 Booked	19:30 Coaching Ray	19:30 Orange Group	19:30 Mixed Doubles	19:30 Lords Event	
	20:00 Available	20:00 Available	20:00 Booked	20:00 Coaching Ray	20:00 Orange Group	20:00 Mixed Doubles	20:00 Lords Event	
< Earlier Times Lat	ter Times > 🕞 No. of	Courts 🗨   🔫 No. of Session	is 💦					

The final page of your page of your web site can now be viewed

## Figure 37 The final Booking Page

Please note the following configured from the Administration Panel from Top to Bottom.....

Fantasy Tennis & Squash Club	Configured from the Main menu
Sponsors logo (Heptathlon Sports)	Configured from the Sponsorship menu
Tabs for Sports Squash & Tennis	Configured from the Sports menu
Court Names, Court 1, Court 2 etc	Configured from the Courts menu
Size of each court booking field	Configured from the Sports menu
Members	Configured from the Members menu
Club Night events with custom colour	Configured from the Special Events menu

# **Reports**

There are a number of fixed reports that can be generated using the Admin Panel's report functions. If you require bespoke reports then you can either obtain remote database access using the API or you can request eBookingOnline to create a new report by logging a support call.

When running a report you will be presented with the results in two forms. A table detailing the results and a graphical bar chart.



## Figure 38 Displaying Reports

## **Custom Queries**

You can make any customised query to your database using read only statements such as SELECT .... By clicking on the **custom query** report. If you are an administrator of the reporting section you are able to create, edit and delete existing reports. If you only have access to the reports section then you can only run predefined reports created by the reports administrator.

### **Custom Queries**

Back to reports

Enter your custom SQL query into the box below, your report with then be generated in a table that can be further sorted, searched on and exported. Please note that there is a limit of 10,000 entries returned from the query. If the query is unable to complete the error message should give you some idea of where the query failed.

lf you need help	in writing a Query then we can help for a small fee	per query, please log a support call for further info	ormation.				
Show 10	▼ entries	Search:	New	Edit	Delete		
Run Query	Title 🕌	Description			ļt		
٥	Mail Chimp	Mail Chimp					
٥	Member List	Non					
٥	Members	Members Table					
0	Payments	PPayements					
٥	Payments for Courts	This report details member payments over the p	oast year.				
0	Select all from buddy_dates	Testddd					
0	Show All Databases	This query should be barred					
Showing 1 to 7 c	of 7 entries						
			Previo	ous 1	Next		

### Figure 39 Custom Queries

To run a query simply click on the run icon in the first column next to the query to be run. Once run the query can be sorted, searched upon and exported to common formats such as Excel, CSV, PDF.

Payments for	or Cour	Sdate created: 20	022-04-18										
This report details memb	per payments of	over the past year.								Refresh	Repor	Qu	ery List
Show 10 ·	entries			Searc	h:			) <b>c</b>	ору	CSV	Exce	I PDF	Print
sport_id 🛛 🕌	ref lî	court_id l1	membership_number	time 👫	paid	ļţ				cos	it lî	deleted	ļţ
1	1	3	2409	2019-08-15 13:30:00	5						3.00	1	
1	3	21	2409	2019-09-15 13:20:00	5						7.00	0	
1	4	21	2409	2019-09-15 14:00:00	5						7.00	0	
1	5	21	2409	2019-09-16 14:00:00	5						7.00	0	
1	6	15	2409	2019-09-07 20:30:00	7						0.00	0	
1	11	15	2408	2019-09-29 16:30:00	1						0.00	0	
1	15	22	2408	2019-11-05 12:00:00	1						0.00	0	
1	16	22	2408	2019-11-05 12:30:00	1						0.00	0	
1	17	14	2408	2019-11-05 19:30:00	1						0.00	0	
1	19	23	1	2019-12-19 19:00:00	0						0.00	0	
10 (17731 total)					31 (12643	3 total)		£24.	.00 (£3	836.80	total)		
Showing 1 to 10 of 2,697	7 entries												
						Previous	1	2	3	4 5		270	Next

Figure 40 Custom Query Report

# **Creating and Modifying Custom Queries**

To create / Edit a query select the NEW or EDIT buttons from the Custom Query main page. This will display the following form.

Title:	Payments for Courts
Description:	This report details member payments over the past year.
Query:	select * from bookings
Notes:	None
Footer:	countIllIintI\$sumI
Column Format:	text-right danger
Prompted Fields	
Sort by Query:	
No. of Rows to display:	10 💌

Figure 41 Create or Edit Custom Query

Title	This is a short description of what the report doers and is displayed as the main title when the report is run
Description	This is a more detailed description of the report and is displayed under the title in smaller text when the report is run.
Query	This is the actual query itself. Please not that it is not checked for correct syntax until run time. The query should not exceed 10,000 rows as this is the limit of the system. IF larger reports are required then these will need to be broken up using the LIMIT command. The query may also contain special fields that are substituted at run time see <i>prompted fields</i> .
Notes	This is a more detailed description of the report and is displayed under the report itself. This can include any free text including HTML.
Footer	Should you wish to add totals at the footer of columns in the report then select the type of total for each column separated by a ' '. There are four type of totals: 1) \$sum – The sum to two decimal places with your currency symbol. This can be used for costs. 2) sum – the same as \$sum but without a currency symbol. 3) int – a summation of the column as an integer. 4) count – the count of non-zero rows displayed as an integer.
Column Format	Here you can add your own styling to each column, this is based on bootstrap styling. For more information visit:
	https://getbootstrap.com/docs/4.0/getting- started/introduction/
	Each columns formatting is separated by a ' '.
Prompted Fields	If you want the report to be based on variable dates then you can add either Month, Year or Both to the report. When the report is run the user will be prompted for these fields. These prompted fields will be inserted into the query replacing {month} with the month and {year} with the year. E.g. select *, from_unixtime(date) as Date from

	payments where year(from_unixtime(date)) = '{year}'
Sort by Query	By default the report allows sorting on any column once displayed. If you wish to disable this and sort on you own column then select this checkbox and ensure that the ORDER BY clause is used in the SQL statement.
No. of Rows to display	By default the report will display 10 rows with correct pagination for more rows. If you want the default number of displayed rows to be anything more select it here.

# **Emailing Members**

The Admin Panel can also be used to send out emails to your membership. To send emails select the Main menu and then click on Send Emails. On the opening page a table shows all of the emails that have been sent. Emails can be saved as templates and edited and re-sent at a later date. The table also shows the current usage as a percentage. If the Outbox becomes full then no further emails can be sent until space is freed up by deleting old or unwanted emails.

To create a new email click on the New Email button. To Edit and email click on the Edit icon in the first column of the email you wish to edit. To delete an email first select the row or rows that you wish to delete and then click on the Delete Email button.

Mailbox Outbox (current u	sage 0.15%)					
Show 10	✓ entries		Search:		New Em	nail Delete Email
View / Edit	Date Sent	ţ,	Subject	lt	Content	
ø	Mon, 29 Jan 18 19:00:21		Help Needed		This weekend will be the annual charity for the blind	event to riase money
Ø	Mon, 29 Jan 18 18:59:38		Tomorrows Competition		Hi {#firstName}	
Showing 1 to 2 of	2 entries				Pr	revious 1 Next

## Figure 42 Email Outbox

When editing or creating a new email the following dialogue will be presented.



### **Figure 43 Sending Emails**

Emails can be sent either to all members or to individual membership types by selecting the top drop down box, here multiple membership types can be selected. By default emails are only sent to those members who specify they want to receive emails, this can be overridden by checking the 'Override Member Preference' checkbox. Please also note that members with a high bounce rate will also not be emailed. These are email addresses that have been returned undeliverable in the past and generally indicate that the email address is incorrect.

By default, if the same email address is used by more than one member, only one copy will be sent. If you have specific member information in the message, such as membership number or name, then by checking the **Send Duplicate Emails** checkbox the email will be delivered to each member at the same email address.

Enter a subject for your email and then enter your message. Emails will be sent in rich text format and the type of text and colours can be varied to produce a professional email. You can also pass custom parameters to the email such as First Name, Last Name etc., for a full list please click on the link to display available options. E.g. {firstName} will be replaced by the member's first name.

Finally, you can send just a single test email by checking the bottom box and selecting a member's email.

## **Integrating email with Mail Chimp**

To have greater control over mailing lists we have integrated our system with MailChimp. This allows you to create custom mailing lists and allow members to join or leave lists through the eBooking System. Admins can also add members to mailing lists as well. Emails are then sent to your membership through Mail Chimp to the relevant mailing lists.

In order to perform this integration, you will need to look up, or create your Mail Chimp API Key. This is obtained from the Mail Chimp dashboard. From Mail Chimp click on the Account Icon at the bottom of the menu and then select Extras and API Keys. Simply follow the instructions to generate a new key and then copy this to the clipboard.

Within the eBooking Admin Panel select Main from the left-hand menu, then click on the Integrate with MailChimp button.

# MailChimp Integration

This page allows you to integrate with MailChimp so that members can update their mailing preferences, please update details and click save



By entering your MailChimp APIKEY and you can allow specific lists within your MailChimp account to be controlled by your members "Manage Account" page. This allows them to subscribe or leave a mailing list more conveniently.

Active		
MailChimp API KEY	0an427/kaar5a7903k1037/a/294c394c428e47+ax177	
Select managed lists	× Squash News × Tennis News	
Save		

#### Figure 44 Integrating with MailChimp

Enter or copy your API key into the API KEY field and click Save. Once connected to MailChimp click on the Select managed sites list box and a list of your mailing lists will be displayed; this also verifies your API key. Select the mailing lists that you want members to be able to join / leave and click Save again. When a member now visits their Manage Account page they will also be able to manage the mailing lists they belong to.

# **SMS Messaging**

SMS messages can be sent to members requesting Alerts when courts become available. To use SMS messaging you must use the SMS provider ClickSend (<u>https://clicksend.com</u>)

Once you have signed up for an account, and added some funds to pay for the SMS messages and start sending messages. You enable SMS messaging by clicking on SMS Integration from the MAIN menu.

SMS Int	tegration	
This feature allo be able to selec	ows your club to integrate with CLICK SEND to send members SMS alerts when a s ct this option. The short name of your Club should be used to optimise and reduce c	lot becomes a osts of your SN
Enable SMS fo	or Alerts 🔽	
ClickSend Use	ername	
ClickSend API	I Кеу	
Club Short Nar	ITAS FTAS	
Originating Co	United Kingdom 🔻	
Alpha Tag	EBO *	
Save		

### Figure 45 SMS Configuration

The SMS service can be enabled or disabled using the first checkbox.

Enter your Username used to login to ClickSend. To obtain your API key, open the ClickSend dashboard and navigate to Developers. From there click on API credentials, here you will see your API key.

The Club Short name is used for clubs that have long names. When shortened or abbreviated it will ensure that the SMS message length will fit into a single message reducing costs. In this example FTAS is used as an abbreviation for Fantasy Tennis and Squash Club.

Please enter your country as this is used to send out SMS messages locally to you.

Finally, we would strongly suggest you use the Alpha Tag feature from ClickSend. This will appear as the Sender Name in the SMS and will not have an option to reply to. If not used, then a shared SMS number will be used, which may be confusing for your members. To create Alpha Tags within the ClickSend Dashboard click Sender IDs and then Manage Senders. The create an Alpha TAG. Once complete this should be visible in the dropdown list in the Admin Panel. Please note these TAGs need to be authorised manually by ClickSend. Once you've received confirmation you can enter the tag in the Admin Panel.

# **Changing the Header**

From the main page of the Admin Panel click on the 'customise header' button under features, this will bring up the main custom screen. The first thing to note is whether this function is enabled or not, a new header can be created and viewed without enabling this feature which may be useful to first validate your new header. When the feature is disabled the standard header will be displayed. When changing the header any existing users logged on to the system will not see the changes until they logoff and re-logon.

Up to three jpg images can be loaded using the relevant buttons to upload these from your local computer. The size limit for each image is 75k and they will be named a#.jpg, b#jpg and c#jpg where # is you unique club id. When referencing these images in any html code the full relative path would be for example.... <img src="../box/custom/a3.jpg" alt="my image"/> for club id 3's first image.

The HTML editor can be used to form basic headers using the standard buttons, but to create more sophisticated headers this will need to be edited using standard html code by clicking on the HTML button of the editor.

All html code can be used here, including JavaScript and of course any inline CSS styling. A word of caution though when editing html code if it is not *HTML 5 compliant* then the web pages may not appear correct in all browsers. All of our pages have been validated using the W3C service at <a href="http://validator.w3.org/">http://validator.w3.org/</a>, after modifying your header we strongly recommend that you validate you page using this service to ensure that all of your users have the same look and feel and that there is no potentially bad html code that could affect your system. The HTML editor will pick up on common coding mistakes and will by default strip out any bad html tags or tags missing closing tags.

## Limitations

Up to three jpg images can be uploaded.

Each image can be up to 75k is size

ID and name elements are not supported and will be stripped from the html code

The height of the header is 112px, any additional information outside of this window will not be displayed.

# **Recording Payments**

The eBookingOnline database also has a ledger for recording payments made to your organisation. These can be for absolutely anything from court fees, membership fees to coaching with each member's account having their own ledger showing payments received. If court billing is enabled it will also show credits for payments in and debits for each booking fee. If the membership renewal system is enabled any online payments received will also be recorded in the ledger.

To access and make or edit payments first select the member account that you wish to change by clicking on the Edit  $\mathscr{P}$  icon of the member list (see Figure 19), then select Edit / Add Payments (see Figure 21).

A list of payments will then be listed for that member. These payments can neither be edited or deleted using the associated icons.

ow 15 entries				Search:	Back	Add Edit Copy CSV Excel Delete					
John Adams - Member No. 2408 Booking Fee Balance: £5621.71											
ate Time 🛛 🗍 🖡	Money In 🛛 🗍	Money Out	Code 👫	Description I	Fee 🗦	Transaction Id / Ref					
022-04-14 12:26:06	28.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3KoSDjArEkf68SnB16r9ohe0					
022-04-14 12:22:45	22.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3KoQI7ArEkf68SnB1XYXHEOn					
022-04-05 14:50:15		12.00	1B	Court Booking Fee	0.00	17130					
022-04-01 17:43:13	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3KjnZ7ArEkf68SnB19TzcR1R					
022-04-01 17:36:56	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3KjnT2ArEkf68SnB0jlKYw83					
022-04-01 17:20:22	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3KjnD0ArEkf68SnB09YtiDm1					
022-04-01 17:20:01	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3KjnCfArEkf68SnB1Gkgecd4					
022-04-01 17:19:35	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3KjnCGArEkf68SnB0KhHrcIM					
022-04-01 16:47:22	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal	0.00	ch_3Kjmh4ArEkf68SnB0i6YiNlq					
022-03-22 20:50:09	10.00		1D	Court Fee Online Top Up	0.00	ch_3KgEeaArEkf68SnB0pY6doFr					
022-03-16 21:58:59		2.00	1B	Court Booking Fee	0.00	17127					
022-03-16 18:32:42	2.00		1C	Court Booking Refund	0.00	17126					
022-03-16 18:13:52		2.00	1B	Court Booking Fee	0.00	17126					
022-03-16 18:10:17	2.00		1C	Court Booking Refund	0.00	17126					
022-03-16 17:55:24		2.00	1B	Court Booking Fee	0.00	17126					

#### **Member Payments**

### **Figure 46 Member Payments**

To add a payment (or refund) click on the Add Payment button at the top of the table.

The following screen will be displayed. By default the current date is displayed but this can be modified. Enter the amount and code from the drop down list. There are a few codes automatically configured for the billing system and membership renewals, to add more from the **main** menu click on **manage database** and then **payment types**. Here a list will be displayed to which you can add or edit existing payment types. The final fields when adding a payment are optional. There is a fee field for any charges that may be incurred in processing this transaction so that the real amount received can be recorded, and a transaction field to record any unique number associated with this payment such as a Cheque Number.

Click **save** to record this traction. Please note that if the *Billing System* is enabled then each members account will also have an associated balance. This balance is only adjusted when a payment is recorded as a Payment Type associated with the billing system i.e. Codes 1A,1B,1C or 1D, these are explained later.

Please fill in the following o	details and click save to add a new pay	/ment
Member Name	John Adams	
Member Number	2408	
Date	18-04-2022 2:36:59 PM	
Amount		
Payment Code	Court Fee Top Up (1A)	•
Fee		
Transaction ID		
Save		

Add Member Payment

Figure 47 Add Payments

# **Membership Renewals**

Managing membership renewals is a simple process, all that is needed is the correct membership type assigned to each member, a valid membership renewal date, a cost associated with that membership type and if you want members to receive notification emails a valid member email address. If you are using an online merchant then you can easily allow your members to renew their membership online as well. To enable this feature simply click on the Main option from the lefthand menu and then click on the Membership Renewals Button.

At eBookingOnline.net we support the following merchants:

- World Pay
- Stripe.Com (recommended for max flexibility with renewals see later section)
- PayPal

If using the optional online membership renewal Members can make their renewals simply by clicking on the renew Membership Button when logging on to the system through their Manage Account link. From here they will be taken to your online merchant to make their payment securely, this payment is then credited directly to your merchant account and recorded in the ledger system and the membership renewal date updated appropriately.

Number of days prior to re	wwal membership can be renewed online 40 (Requires online merchant account)
Number of days to deactiv	ate accounts after non-renewal 10
Disable Change in Membe	ship Type at renewal
Require aggreement to T	C's at renewal / sign up 🛛 🔽
Werchant	Stripe •
Publishable Key	
a but thingshindat	ב הכנסי או המשלה מעריק או העריק או המעריק להיאון להיי האורייני ביו אלי או היא אלי אלי היא האורייני היא אורייני ביו היו האורייני אין האורייני או היא האורייני אין האורייני ביו האורייני אין האורייני או האורייני האורייני היא ה
Secret Key	
Secret Key	tint simusing (24.00m) on the territory (2007) is the most transporting to
Secret Key Webhook Secret	elineli, selinus ekse ay 7241.040 Metri Junik ketkolisetteli syntoisetti kain ternette, to 2762 yr 4000 staa
Secret Key Webhook Secret	line), administraciji (201, 140 Met Swist, 1482) 520 Elger Soviet New Statem Provid, 1, 2282) (2400, 1800 141 - Schriftingster Telleng
Secret Key Webhook Secret Currency	UK Sterling •
Secret Key Webhook Secret Currency Send automated Notific:	UK Sterling To renewal date
Secret Key Webhook Secret Currency Send automated Notific: Note the suspension email is sent	UK Sterling * ion emails on the following days prior to renewal date n the day the membership expires plus any additional days above
Secret Key Webhook Secret Currency Send automated Notificz Vole the suspension email is sent Day before 🜌	UK Sterling ion emails on the following days prior to renewal date In the day the membership scriptes plus any additional days above Neek before 2 2 weeks before 2 Month before 2
Secret Key Webhook Secret Currency Send automated Notifica Vote the suspension email is sent Day before 🗹	UK Sterling ion emails on the following days prior to renewal date n the day the membership expires plus any additional days above Neek before 2 2 weeks before 2 Month before 2
Secret Key Webhook Secret Currency Send automated Notific: Ide the suspension email is sent Day before 2 Admin Email to be copie	UK Sterling ion emails on the following days prior to renewal date in the day the membership expires plus any additional days above Week before 2 2 weeks before 2 Month before 2 i on renewal reminders john@ebookingonline.net
Secret Key Webhook Secret Currency Send automated Notifica Note the suspension email is sent Day before Admin Email to be copie Admin Email to be copie	UK Sterling ion emails on the following days prior to renewal date in the day the membership sopies plus any additional days above Week before 2 2 weeks before 2 Month before 2 is on renewal reminders to on renewal reminders to on for online renewals bohn@ebookingonline.net

**Figure 48 Membership Renewals**
Please note that by enabling this system any members with an out-of-date membership will be marked as inactive and will no longer be able to use the system. Membership renewals are processed each evening shortly after midnight local time, it is during this time that notification emails are sent and any lapsed memberships disabled.

If using the online membership renewal option set the option Number of days prior to renewal membership can be renewed online to how many days before the membership expires a member has the option to renew. During this period an additional 'renew membership' option is available under their manage account link, simply clicking on it will take them to your Merchants payment system to make payments directly to your organisation.

If you have a grace period after the membership expires, this allows a lapsed member to continue to use the system enter the Number of days to deactivate accounts after non-renewal otherwise leave this as zero. These number of days will be added to the membership renewal date to calculate the suspension date of the account.

You can also add custom Terms and Conditions of membership. These terms are displayed when signing up or renewing membership for the first time. The terms are configured by selecting the Edit T & C's button at the bottom of the page. You can also check the box Require agreement to T & C's at renewal / sign up to display a required field that the member must check to agree to the T& C's before being accepted.

For online payments add the Merchant Account information, this will vary depending on the merchant selected, your local currency you want to receive payments in and if using a merchant's test system, check the appropriate checkbox or enter Test API Keys.

Notification emails are completely customisable and you can also stipulate when they are sent. This can be any combination of a day before, week before, 2 weeks before and a month before just by selecting the relevant checkboxes.

All emails are cc'd to an admin email address. You can enter multiple recipients by separating them with a comma.

There are three email templates that you will need to create, one to warm members that the membership is to be renewed, the second to advise them that their account is now suspended and finally, if using Stripe, an email to inform members that an upcoming payment will be made automatically on the renewal date. To edit these templates, click on the Edit notification, Suspension email or Edit Subscription email button at the bottom of the screen. This will then bring up a separate box with your templates.

When creating your templates you can add html code, links and email addresses using the editor. You can also insert database fields into the emails by encapsulating the, in curly brackets {}. The following fields are available to use:

DB Parameters ×
Enter all characters including the {}'s into the email to pass the parameter
First name {#firstName}
Last name {#lastName}
Renewal Date {#renewalDate}
Membership Number {#membershipNumber}
Cost of Membership {#cost}
Membership Type {#membershipType}

An example template is shown below using links and database fields.

Memberst	ip Renewal Notificat	tion																					clos	e x
Enter your	text for the email to b	e sent to	member	s inform	ning them	of their r	membership re	newal. Clic	ck here fo	or a list of	f paramete	ers that	can b	be passed	d from the	e database	e into the	email						
File E	dit View Insert	Form	at Too	ols Ta	ble																			
5 (	→ Paragraph	~	в	I <u>4</u>	<u>a</u> ~ 🏄	<u>•</u> ~	ΞΞ	⊒≡	:= `	~ ¦∃	~ 🖻	≥	9	° 🛃										
Dear Your Mana The d	{#firstName}, membership for th age Account link re cost for you renewa	e Fanta new on al is £{#	sy Tenr line, or cost} fo	nis and you car r memb	Squash n make p bership t	Club e baymer ype {#r	expires on {# nt directly to membership	renewalD the club a Type}	ate}. To administi	renew g rator.	your mer	nbersł	hip y	you can e	either go	o to your	online b	ooking	account	and thro	ough the	1		
Your	details are:																							
Mem	bership Number: {	#memb	ershipN	lumber]	}																			•
																					1	09 words	5	1
Update	Edit Notification	n email	Edi	t Susper	nsion ema	il	Edit Subscripti	on email																

#### Figure 49 Notification email templates

Once all of your information is entered Update to complete the membership renewals option.

# Allow new Members to sign up with automatic payment

If you have enabled both Membership Renewals with an online merchant AND the **New Member** sign up option (see Figure 3 Modifying Basic Club Settings) then payment will be collected when a New Member signs-up. After filling the New Member form, they will be asked to make the appropriate payment for their new membership. This membership will then be automatically approved and enabled.

# Using Stripe for membership renewals or Payments

# **Overview**

Stripe.com is an online merchant that has a wide global reach. Stripe connects your bank account to your members' credit / debit cards so that payments can be collected online for both membership renewals and top ups for online bookings. Stripe is our recommended merchant for online renewals as it allows subscriptions to be altered without the need for members to re-subscribe at each renewal. Stripe also allows for introductory offers and integrates with our system with the Sign-up Form for new members, instantly creating their membership and charging the correct fees with or without any offers.

The eBookingonline (EBO) system is integrated with your stripe.com account so that any payments are recorded in the eBookingonline database and any actions such as updating a member's membership type are updated. Whilst Stripe will charge for each transaction (varied on your currency and country) eBookingonline offer this service included in the monthly subscription. All transactions are completed directly between your members and Stripe.com and of course from Stripe.com to your bank account.

Our system does not store or transmit any credit card data, it uses the Stripe Checkout facility which will minimise your requirements for PCI compliance. You will though have to complete a basic declaration with Stripe to cover basic PCI compliance.

# **Configuring Stripe**

The EBO System needs to be sent messages from Stripe and to be able to configure parameters within your Stripe account such as PLANS.

To do this the EBO system uses the Stripe API and requires the keys of your account to be configured within the Admin Panel under the Membership Renewals section. You will need to set up 3 keys as shown below:

- Publishable Key
- Secret Key
- Webhook Secret

#### Membership Renewal Status

Enabled Obisable WARNING by enablic	ed ing this feature any member accounts with past Membership renewal dates will automatically be disabled
Number of days prior	r to renewal membership can be renewed online 40 (Requires online merchant account)
Number of days to de	eactivate accounts after non-renewal 10
Disable Change in M	lembership Type at renewal
Merchant	Stripe •
Publishable Key	pa_and_transpose_testation_regiment().ust.r.p.toterm.govide
Secret Key	site_break_thistophiliseConflictionEx.pathwaranisec.pp/2244.0402/http://www.
Webhook Secret	wheel_Self-MucORD DL Den.3079566g811716861g
Currency	UK Sterling •
Send automated No Note the suspension email in	ntification emails on the following days prior to renewal date is sent on the day the membership expires plus any additional days above
Day before 🗹	Week before 🗹 2 weeks before 🗹 Month before 🗹
Admin Email to be o	john@ebookingonline.net
Admin Email to be o	copied on for online renewals john@ebookingonline.net
(for multiple email addres	sses separate with a comma ",")
Update Edi	t Notification email Edit Suspension email Edit Subscription email

Stripe offers you a test environment and a live environment. Please note that the keys for each are different. Please use the corresponding keys for your needs.

To obtain these keys from the Stripe dashboard:

- 1. Click on the DEVLEOPERS link on the top right-hand section of the dashboard and click on API Keys
- 2. The Publishable key should be visible, simple copy and paste this into the ADMIN PANEL as the Publishable Key
- 3. For the secret key click the "Reveal Key Token" link and copy the key into the ADMIN PANEL as the Secret Key

API keys				Learn more	about API authentication $\rightarrow$
Viewing test API keys. Toggle	to view live keys.				Viewing test data
Standard keys These keys will allow you to authe	nticate API requests. Learn more				
NAME	TOKEN	LAST USED		CREATED	
Publishable key	pk_test_51KaqA0ArEkf68SnBYtdgI9bWlDxdXJUpZb3X1	14 Apr	6	7 Mar	
Secret key	Reveal test key	14 Apr	6	7 Mar	
Restricted keys For greater security, you can creat	e restricted API keys that limit access and permissions for different areas o	your account data. Learn more			+ Create restricted key
NAME				TOKEN	LAST USED CREATED
No restricted keys					

- 4. To obtain the webhook key click "Webhooks" underneath the API Link.
  - a. Click ADD ENPOINT for "endpoints receiving events from your account"
  - b. In the url field enter <a href="https://ebookingonline.net/admin/stripe.php?id=X">https://ebookingonline.net/admin/stripe.php?id=X</a> [ please replace X with your club ID number]
  - c. Enter a description for you to recognise this as the EBO webhook
  - d. Click SELECT EVENTS and enter the following events:
    - i. invoice.payment\_succeeded
    - ii. customer.subscription.deleted
    - iii. customer.deleted
    - iv. customer.subscription.created
    - v. customer.subscription.updated
    - vi. charge.succeeded
    - vii. invoice.payment\_failed
    - viii. refund.created
    - ix. refund.updated
    - x. refund.failed
  - e. Click on "Add Events" and then "Add Webhook"
  - f. Click on the Webhook that you have just created an towards the top of the screen there should be a REVEAL link to reveal the SIGNING SECRET, click on this and copy in the ADMIN PANEL as the Webhook Secret
- 5. Finally SAVE the information on the ADMIN PANEL for membership renewal.

# **Online Membership Renewals**

Stripe.com is a merchant that offers the greatest flexibility with membership renewals. It has a subscription service that can be tailored to meet the most demanding of requirements. The following sections detail where eBookingonline has fully integrated with the subscription service and how this varies with other merchants.

# **Subscriptions**

Each member in the EBO database will need to have the correct renewal date entered for their membership. This is set when editing or adding a new member. They will also have an initial membership type, though this type can be changed during the initial subscription. The membership type will contain the cost for each payment and the frequency of each payment. E.g. £20 a month, or £40 for 3 months.

The membership types that you intend to use for membership renewals (by selecting the *Allow in Membership renewal* check box) need to be synchronised with the PLANs within Stripe.

Membership '	Туре	Ad	ult Open Day					
Allow in Mem	bership re	enewal 🔽						
Group membe	ership							
Billing Cycle		12	Months			•		
Cost (€)		23	5.00					
Sport	Allowed	Off Peak Only	All Inclusive	Coaching Accoun	t Da	ily Peak L	imit	We
Tennis						0		
Squash						0		
Combined Limit						0		

The synchronisation is controlled by the EBO system, that is any new membership type or modifications to existing membership types have to be made on the EBO Admin Panel, this will then update your Stripe.com PLANs within the stripe dashboard. **Under no circumstances should you edit these PLANs directly in the Stripe dashboard**.

When you view the list of membership types in the Admin Panel those sync'd with Stripe will have a Green Check mark.

# Manage Membership Types

The following tab	ole lists all of the Membership Types, you can	edit , delete or add new Types. The	results can be further sorted	d, searched on and exported.	
Show 10	- entries		Search:		Add
ID II	Membership Type 🛛 🖺	Billing Cycle	Cost (£)	Sync'd in Stripe	ļ†
84	2018 10 a month	1 year	10.00	~	
96	2021 Full	6 month	50.00	~	
35	ABC	3 month	30.00	~	
80	Adult 2019	1 year	110.00	~	
88	Adult 2019 New	1 year	150.00	×	
89	Adult 2019 New 2	1 year	160.00	×	
82	Adult 2019-3	3 month	300.00	×	

When you create your first membership types for renewal you should check that these have been replicated in the Stripe dashboard. A failure here would indicate that the system has not been set up correctly with incorrect keys.

You can also offer initial discounts to new members. These are set up as COUPONS in the stripe dashboard giving discount rates over predefined durations. E.g. \$10 off each payment for the first 6 months. If you want to offer these discounts then the Discount Code first needs to be configured in the stripe dashboard, the name of this coupon then needs to be added to the membership type associated with this discount in the EBO Admin Panel.

Please note that existing members will not have these discounts applied when switching subscriptions. It is only new members that will receive discounts on new subscriptions.

The start date of the subscription will be the configured renewal date in the EBO database or the current date, whichever is the latest. That is you cannot start a subscription in the past.

A member subscribes to your club by logging onto the booking system and clicking on the MANAGE ACCOUNT link. The following is an example of what they may see under membership renewal.

Membership
Your current selected membership type is ABC and is due to expire on 01/03/2022. Your standard Membership fee of £30.00 is payable every 3 months
To renew or start this membership click the 'Subscribe Now' button below.
If you wish to change the duration of your membership or your membership type please select from the options listed below and then click the 'Subscribe Now' button
Select Membership Type Retain existing Membership Type 🗸
If your membership type is not listed above please email john@ebookingonline.net
Subscribe Now

At this point they can either change their membership type or simply click on the "Subscribe Now" button. They will then be prompted to enter their card details with the amount to be billed each cycle.

If you do not want to allow members to change their subscription type at renewal, then you can disable this option under the General Membership Renewals Section. See Figure 48 Membership Renewals

When clicking on Subscribe they will be prompted for their credit card details.

Current Password	lew Password Confirm	New Password
Update Password		
New PIN	Subscription of £30.00 to Cl	Fantasy Tennis & Squash ub
dd Credit	Cardholder Name	
urrent Balance: £129.00		
mount to Top Up (£)	Card number	MM/YY CVC
embership	Subscribe Cancel	
our current selected membership ty f £30.00 is payable every 3 months	be is ABC and is due to expire on 01/03/20	022. Your standard Membership fee
o renew or start this membership click t	he 'Subscribe Now' button below.	
you wish to change the duration of you	r membership or your membership type plea	ase select from the options listed below

After successfully entering their details, the following will occur:

- 1. A new customer will be created in Stripe, the customer reference and details is also recorded in the EBO database along with a tokenized value of the credit card information. (This can be used for future online payments)
- 2. A new subscription will be created against the customer reference and visible in the Stripe dashboard.
- 3. A payment schedule will also be created based on the subscription, any discounts and the frequency of the Plan will be applied.
- 4. The EBO database will be updated with the correct membership type selected and the next payment date.

When a payment is due Stripe will automatically create a payment and attempt to charge the credit card. If for example the subscription was created on the due date, then this will be immediately after the subscription has been created.

Upon successful completion of the payment Stripe will send the EBO server messages to reflect this using the Webhook. This will cause the EBO System to:

- 1. Record a payment in the members ledger for Membership Renewal (Code 1Y)
- 2. Update the next payment due date for the specific member.
- 3. Activate their account in the case where it has been de-activated due to late payments.
- 4. Send an email to the member confirming that payment was successful. (These emails can be copied to specific admin emails addresses if required)

# **Managing Subscriptions**

Subscriptions cannot be cancelled or modified by members. Only the administrator of the system can change subscriptions through the Admin Panel. When a member has a Stripe subscription set up, the membership type cannot be changed for that member in the normal way. The membership type will be disabled when editing a member and replaced with a Manage Subscriptions button.

Member No.	8277	Change member's Password
Member PIN	•	Change
First Name	Noel	
Last Name	Ghallager	
Membership Type	Manage Subscriptions	5
Changing the Membership Typ	pe will update any subscr	iption with immediate effect
Primary Member	Edit / View Grou	o Members
Privilege Level	0 - Ordinary Account	•

#### Figure 50 Manage Subscriptions Button

Clicking on this button will produce a page that enables the admin to cancel the subscription immediately, cancel the subscription at the end of the term and change the subscription at a future date, also known as a phase.

This page will display the subscription information that is stored for the member in the EBO database at the top of the page. This shows the current status, customer number and subscription number as stored in Stripe along with the current Membership Type. At the bottom of the page a table that shows the retrieved subscriptions from Stripe, the subscription ID should tally with both.

# Manage Stripe Subscriptions

Member:	Noel Ghallager
Membership Number:	8277
Current Membership Type:	Family Membership 2019
Stripe Customer #:	cus_PhPdb5Yca470FA
Stored Subscription Id:	sub_10wk3uArEkf68SnBmYx461K7
Status:	Active

This page allows your club to view / change / cancel subscriptions with Stripe. Be careful as changes cannot be undone and often result in charges being made on member stored cards.

Select a subscription first to modify or cancel. If a subscription schedule is created, then if the Ending Behaviour is set to RELEASE, once it expires the subscription will revert to the last phase of the subscription indefinately.

#### Retrieved Subscription Schedule from Stripe

Select a row from the table below to make changes

Subscription Id		Subscription Type		Period Start Date	Period End Date	Status	Ending Behaviour
sub_1Owk3uArEkf6	8SnBmYx461K7	Family Membership 2019		21-03-2024	21-03-2025	active	Runs forever
Add to Schedule	Delete Future Phase	Cancel Subscription	Ва	ck			

#### Figure 51 Managing Subscriptions

Stripe manages the Subscriptions as a 'schedule' and this schedule has phases, the current phase being the current state of the subscription.

### **Changing a Subscription Plan**

To change the current subscription, first highlight the active schedule in the table (usually the only entry) and click on the Add to Schedule button. This will bring up the following dialogue.

	~
Membership Type	
Social	~
Start Date End Date	
21-03-2025	Ċ.

#### Figure 52 Modifying a Schedule

Select the new subscription / membership type for the member an select a Start date for this change. This can be any future date starting with tomorrow's date. The end Date is prepopulated with the current renewal date. If you were upgrading or downgrading a subscription mid-term you would typically leave this end date as the current renewal date. In such as case also leave the Prorate for next change button enabled. This will mean that the member is charged the extra in their subscription immediately. If they are reducing their subscription, then a credit will be applied to their account and used at the next time they renew.

To change a subscription at the end of current phase, enter the start date as the end of the current phase and the end date that would be the new renewal date. If using annual subscriptions this would be 1 year from the start date. As Stripe calculates subscriptions by the second it may be confusing for both the admin and the members to see charges that are not exactly the same as the membership type. To overcome this ensure that the Prorate button is **disabled**. This will mean that there is no credit enabled for a few minutes or hours and only the full amount of the new membership will be charged on the renewal date.

Once a phase has completed the membership will rollover to the last phase of the subscription and continue to run perpetually.

Once added the table will be updated with the future phase.

Retrieved Subscription Schedule from Stripe

Select a row from the table below to make changes

Subscription Id	Subscription Type	Period Start Date	Period End Date	Status	Ending Behaviour
sub_10wk3uArEkf68SnBmYx461K7	Family Membership 2019	21-03-2024	25-03-2024	active	release
sub_10wk3uArEkf68SnBmYx461K7	Adult 2019 New 2	25-03-2024	21-03-2025	Future	release
Add to Schedule Delete Future Phase	Cancel Subscription Ba	ack			

#### Figure 53 Future phase added

At this point the future phase can be cancelled by selecting the phase and clicking on **Delete Future Phase**. The subscription will automatically rollover on the Period Start Date and update the EBO system automatically.

# Cancelling a Subscription

To cancel a subscription, first highlight the subscription in the table and then click on Cancel Subscription. The following dialogue will be displayed.



#### Figure 54 Cancelling a Subscription

There are two options. Cancelling at the end of the current period means that the subscription will continue to run until the current renewal date (end date). After this the subscription will be cancelled and the member's account placed inactive. If the member wishes to re-join at a later date they would just to login, go to the Manage Account section of the booking system and create a new subscription.

The second option, to end immediately, cancels the subscription with immediate effect and places the member inactive. This cannot be reversed. If any money is due as a refund, then this can be accomplished through the Stripe Dashboard.

# **Changing the Cost of a Subscription**

It is quite feasible that every year subscription rates will be revised by your club. Changing the rate of a subscription is possible using Stripe. When the cost of a subscription is changed in the EBO Admin Panel the following will occur: DO NOT CHANGE OR MODIFY ANY PLAN details in the Stripe dashboard.

- 1. The PLAN in the Stripe dashboard is updated with the new cost
- 2. Each subscription associated with the changed PLAN will be cancelled.
- 3. A new subscription will be created for each member assigned to the PLAN with the new rate.
- 4. The existing next payment date will be retained.
- 5. Members will not be charged the new amount until the next billing period
- 6. Existing discounts applied will be retained.

Please note it is not possible to change the billing cycle of an existing PLAN. PLANS should never be changed in the Stripe dashboard, all PLAN parameters need to be controlled by the EBO application for correct synchronisation.

# **Court Fee Billing System User Set up & Testing**

The eBookingOnline court reservation system contains a billing system whereby court fees and lighting fees can be processed at the time of booking a court. The following merchants are supported for the collection of Court Booking Fees

- Stripe.com
- World Pay
- PayPal

The Billing System works on a *credit basis*, whereby each member's account records a balance which is derived from credits and debits made. A credit being a deposit made either through the club administrator or online through your merchant account, a debit is the individual cost of each booking. Sufficient credit to cover the cost of a court booking needs to be present in each member's account when a booking is made, the total cost of the booking is equally split between all playing members. For example, if the total cost of a booking is £8 and there are four playing members, then each member will require a minimum of £2 credit in their account for the booking to be made. When a guest player is selected then the cost of the court is split equally between all playing members. There is also a configurable overdraft limit that can be enabled so that members are allowed to be booked when there is not enough credit available; this may be useful for the initial period when starting billing as members' will not have had the opportunity to add credit to their account.

The eBookingonline.net system does not collect any funds for credits it merely keeps track of all transactions that occur so that an accurate balance for each member's account is maintained. The exchange of any funds is directly between the club and its members. The following shows how funds can be collected in 3 different forms.

# 1. Collection through the Club Administrator

Using the Administrator Panel the club manager can manually enter financial transactions to a member's account ledger by clicking on the 'Edit' icon of a particular member then clicking on edit / add payments. Here a list of all transactions is displayed, the manager has the capabilities to edit any of these as well as add new ones. For example, should a member wish to top-up their account by £30 at the club then after payment to the manager the manager can add a payment (credit) to the account for £30. We have created two codes for you to use but these can be customised, code 1B is for a court booking and code 1C for a refund. Please note then when a court is cancelled, or a player is removed from the booking a credit / refund will be made to that member's account.

# 2. Use of Pre-Paid Vouchers

Using the administration panel vouchers for varying denominations can be created and printed. Each voucher has a unique one-time code. When passed to a member this code can be entered either through

the club touch screen or through a member's PC to credit the member's account immediately. This method is useful if wanting to sell vouchers at the club where access to the admin panel is limited.

# 3. Collection Online through a merchant

To collect money online your organisation will require a verified merchant account, this account will be used to receive and record funds received from members wishing to top-up their accounts online. The following sections will show how to set this up. For security never disclose your account details to anyone, the only information that is required by the eBookingOnline billing system will be listed in the form to set up Court Fee billing, this is dependent on the merchant used.

An individual member can manage and view their account transactions through their account by clicking on the 'Manage Account' button after logging on to the eBookingOnline System using their member ID and password. Here they will be able to view their current balance, all transactions made and be able to make payments directly into your organisation's account. To make a payment the member only requires a credit or debit card, but if they wish the can also use their PayPal account to make payments. By clicking on the 'Add Credit' button from their logon under 'Manage Account' the member will be taken securely to the merchant's website to make a deposit directly into 'Your Organisation's' account, at no point during this process will eBookingonline.net receive or handle any financial transaction, this is directly between your member and the club's merchant account.

The Billing System does however record the transaction and updates the database with the amount received into your merchant account so that this is reflected in the members balance and list of transactions. This process is instant, so if a member were to find that they cannot book a court due to insufficient funds they could top-up their account online, see their new balance and continue to book courts.

It is important at this stage to understand that eBookingOnline.net do not take or receive any funds for court payments or credits, the database is simply used to record these transactions and determine whether a court can or cannot be booked. The exchange of credits or debits is directly between your members and your organisation. For example, if you wanted to refund a credit this would have to be made through your organisation's Merchant account.

To enable the billing system the following tasks need to be completed.

- Configure the peak and off-peak costs for all courts
- Enable the billing system

# Configure the peak and off-peak costs for all courts

Before setting up the system you will need to check that you have the correct currency enabled for your site. This is configured and displayed from the Administration Panel on the main page once you have

Manage Courts

logged on, to change the currency click on the 'edit' link, in the following example USD is shown. If your currency is not listed, please let us know and we can easily add this to our system.

With the correct currency selected you will need to ensure that the court fees for each court are correct for both peak and off-peak times. These are configured by editing individual courts by clicking on the **Courts** link on the left-hand navigation menu and then selecting each court in the table and the **edit** button. This will then display your costs for each court for peak and off-peak times.

0			
Please complete the form below to co	nfigure or update each court and	t click save.	
Court Name	Court 1 - Glassback		
Sport	Squash 💌		
Peak Court Cost (£)	3.00	Off Peak Court Cost (£)	2.00
Peak Guest Fee (£)	10.00	Off Peak Guest Fee (£)	10.00
Peak Coaching Fee (£)	0.00	Off Peak Coaching Fee (£)	0.00
Use Lighting Controls			
Lighting Controls			
Lighting cost (£)	0.00		
WiFi Lighting IP Address	192.168.0.51		
WiFi Lighting Password	IO88EWR		
WiFi Lighting Channel	1	•	
Light Offset (min)	1 Sunset Offset	t (min) 1500 Night Use On	ly 🗆
Disable Night  Lights selection			

You should also confirm that the start and stop times for Peak times are correct by clicking on the Edit Peak Times button, this will ensure that when a booking is made that the correct fee is charged.

# Enable the billing system

Once the Billing System is enabled bookings can only be made when the member is in credit, it is therefore important that member's accounts are topped up prior to this or allowed to have a negative balance, similar to a Bankers Overdraft.

To enable the Billing System from the main page of the Administration Panel click the **Court Fee Billing** button and the following screen will be displayed:

# **Court Billing Features**

Only enable this feature if you want to enable pre-paid court fees. Enabling this feature will not allow any bookings unless member accounts are in credit. Credit can be entered through the admin panel under members payments, or through your Merchant account online from the 'Manage Account' link within the main application

Merchant	Stripe 🔹
Enable Billing of court fees	
Guest Fees always paid by player 1	
Allow Members to go overdrawn by	0.00
Publishable Key	pk_test_51K
Secret Key	sk_test_51KaqA
Webhook Secret	whsec_i6Fez
Currency	UK Sterling *

#### Pre Paid Vouchers

Pre Paid vouchers can be printed in various demoninations with unique codes and sold to members. These can then be entered into the system to credit the member accounts. To Manage Pre Paid Vouchers please click below

#### Vouchers

#### Refund Policy

Enter your text for your Refund Policy, this will be displayed on the Manage Account Page before your members purchase any services online. The policy should contain the process of who to contact and any date redtrictions on refunds in order to obtain a refund. It should also provide expected timelines of when refunds will be processed. Most online merchants will request evidence of a suitable refund policy.

File Edit	View Insert	Format Tools	Table						
4	$\diamond$	Paragraph	$\sim$	в	Ι	<u>A</u> ~ 💉 ~	•••		
Your clubs	efund policy	goes here							

The screen above may vary depending on the type of Merchant selected, in this example we are using Stripe. To enable the system check the **enable billing of court fees** box, select your preferred currency to be billed, the overdraft allowance and then enter your organisations API Keys; See the membership renewal section for specifics on obtaining and configuring these keys.

You can allow members to have an overdraft facility. By default all fees are split equally between all playing members of the booking. As such all members must have credit in their accounts. If the **Guest Fees always paid by player 1** checkbox is checked then any Guest Fees will be paid by Player 1 (the booking member) all other fees such as court fees or lighting fees will be distributed between the playing members proportionally, i.e. if there is one guest and 3 playing members with a guest fee of  $\leq 10$ , a court fee of  $\leq 8$  and lighting fee of  $\leq 4$  then the booking member would pay  $\leq 10 + (8 + 4)/2 = \leq 16$ , the remaining 3 members would be charged  $(8 + 4)/4 = \leq 3$ .

Initially you may want to test this against your Merchants test site, this is possible either by using TEST API keys and credit cards or a developers Sandbox site such as PayPal.

Click save and your system is now enabled for Billing of Courts.

# To Make a Manual deposit into a Members Account

You may allow members to make cash deposits into their account through an Administrator. To do this simply select the member's account through the **members** link in the navigation pane, then click on the member you wish to add credit to and then click Edit / Add Payments.

A list of credits and debits will be shown as well as their current account balance.

# **Member Payments**

The following table lists all payments made by John Adams [2408], you can edit payments, delete them or add a new ones. You can also filter on any field by using the search box, results can be be sorted by multiple columns and the final result exported into various formats. Use the buttons to edit or view each record.

Show 15 • er	ntries		Search:	E	Back	Add	Edit	Сору	CSV	Excel	Delete
John Adams - Member No. 2408 Booking Fee Balance: £5621.71											
Date Time	Money In 🛛 🗍	Money Out 🛛 🗍	Code 🏦	Description	lt	Fee	lt Tr	ansactior	ı Id / Ref	f	ţ1
2022-04-14 12:26:06	28.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal		0.00	ch	_3KoSDj/	ArEkf68S	nB16r9o	he0
2022-04-14 12:22:45	22.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal		0.00	ch	_3KoQI7#	ArEkf68S	nB1XYX	HEOn
2022-04-05 14:50:15		12.00	1B	Court Booking Fee		0.00	17	130			
2022-04-01 17:43:13	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal		0.00	ch	_3KjnZ7A	rEkf68S	nB19Tzc	R1R
2022-04-01 17:36:56	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal		0.00	ch	_3KjnT2A	rEkf68S	nB0jIKYv	v83
2022-04-01 17:20:22	240.00		1Y	Online Membership Renewal		0.00	ch	_3KjnD0A	rEkf68S	nB09YtiE	Dm1

Existing credits can either be amended or deleted here if required using the Edit or Delete icons.

# Add Member Payment

Please fill in the following details and click save to add a new payment

Member Name	John Adams	
Member Number	2408	
Date	18-04-2022 8:59:47 PM	
Amount		
Payment Code	Court Fee Top Up (1A)	Ŧ
Fee		
Transaction ID		
Save		

To make a payment simply click on Add Payment, and complete the following form. You should specify the code of 1A – Court Top Up fee for each transaction and record any other information such as cheque number etc. can be recorded in the transaction field, click save to save the credit.

# Using the top-up voucher system

To use the voucher system first vouchers need to be created and printed off. From the main page of the Admin Panel select "Court fee billing" and the select the "vouchers" button. This will display a list of all vouchers and whether or not they have been redeemed, by who or if they have been voided. Managing vouchers is discussed later in this section.

To create vouchers click on the "Create" button on the top right of the screen, the following dialogue will be displayed.

Fill in the following form to create Pre Paid Vouchers. This will create a PDF file that you can print from or save for future use. Note that PDF files cannot be regenerated at a later time.						
Vouchers will be presented in a new tab in your browser, once finished please close the tab to return to this page.						
Denomination (£)		5 🗸				
Quantity (max 40)						
Create Voucher	Back					

To create your vouchers simply select the denomination (5,10,20,50,100) and the quantity that you would like to create, then click on the "create voucher" button. The system will then open a new tab and automatically open a pdf file containing the vouchers. From here you can print or save the pdf file. Here is an example of a  $\leq 20$  voucher.



When finished please close the current tab to return to the admin panel. Please note that unless the pdf file is saved vouchers cannot be re-printed from the Admin Panel.

Vouchers are managed from the table as shown below, this displays various fields on the status of each voucher. The use of the search field can be used to find any particular information and each column can be sorted by clicking on the sort arrows. For more than one sort press the shift key before clicking.

Show 1	0 ✓ entries					Create & new Voue Search:	Print chers		Create	
	Code 🔶	Value (£) 🌲	Date Created	Date Used 🔶	Membershi	ip No. 🍦	Membe	r Name	🔶 Voi	d 🌲
	SNGPYHNS	10.00	2021-11-09 09:22:24	2021-11-09 09:23:40	1234		George	Countas		
	AQBPBGFT	10.00	2021-11-09 09:22:24		0					
	AIALRBEX	10.00	2021-11-09 09:22:24		0					
	APLVAWCN	10.00	2021-11-09 09:22:24		0					
	SSYIWMBM	10.00	2021-11-09 09:22:24		0					
	LIMYKNFR	10.00	2021-11-09 09:22:24		0					
	LQLLNAQZ	10.00	2020-12-11 12:50:53		0					
	PIWGESFS	10.00	2020-12-11 12:50:53	2020-12-11 12:51:34	2408		John Ad	ams		
	XWFBOUBE	10.00	2020-12-11 12:50:53		0					
	YTUQOTOM	10.00	2020-12-11 12:50:53		0					
Showing	1 to 10 of 33 entr	ies			Previ	ous 1	2	34	Ne	xt
Action of	on Checked items	0								

Vouchers can be marked as void, for example when the printed vouchers are lost or cannot be accounted for. In this state they cannot be redeemed but a record of them is maintained. Vouchers can also be deleted from the system entirely where no record remains. Deleting vouchers that have been redeemed does not change any member account balances. To change any vouchers select the check box next to the voucher(s) you wish to change and click either the delete of void icons at the bottom of the screen.

For members to redeem their voucher they can either enter the code through the "Top Up voucher" link on the touchscreen system, entering their name and voucher code, or they can use their own account through the Manage Account link to add the voucher. Once entered successfully the account is credited immediately and a confirmation email sent with the current balance.

All transaction can also be reviewed under the Manage Account section or through the Admin Panel under the members' payment details.

# **Making Online Payments**

When a member is logged on they can click on the Manage Account icon and be taken to the following screen. Here they can view their balance, view the history of transactions and add credit. They can also add credit from the View History page as well, but the process is exactly the same.

Manage Accou	int
Name Member Number	John Adams 2408
Current Pin	New Pin Confirm Pin Update PIN
Online Account	
Current Balance: €5	13.00 View history Add credit Enter Voucher
Membership Renew	val
Membership Renew	al Date: 28/02/2017
Recount Details	
Email address	john.smith@aol.com
Receive email confir	mations 🖉 Receive rich text emails 🗹
List phone numbers	in the Directory
Telephone	01892 65642321
Mobile/Cell	07836 231252
Address	Some Place
	Somewhere
	Somne Town
Post Code	Some Code
Update Details	

In this case there is a balance of €513, but we will add as an example €20. By clicking on the Add Credit button this will take your member to PayPal's website to make a secure payment directly to your PayPal account [the email address specified when configuring the billing system in the Admin Panel]. If using other merchants the following screens will change dependant on merchant used. For illustration purposes PayPal has been used.

First the member needs to enter the amount they wish to add to their account and click on "Update", then they can either place the order with a credit or debit card, or alternatively if the member has a PayPal account then they can enter their email address and password and make the payment from their PayPal funds. Members do not need a PayPal Account to make payments.

Your order su	Immary	Choose a way to pay	
Descriptions	Amount	Pay with my PayPal accou	nt PaulPaul
Credit for Court Fees	£0.00	Log in to your account to complete the	e purchase
Country 1		<ul> <li>Pay with a debit or credit of (Optional) Sign up to PayPal to m</li> </ul>	card nake your next checkout faster
Item total	£0.00		
	Total £0.00 GBP	Country	United Kingdom 🔻
		Card type	Select Card 🔹
		Billing information First name	
		Last name	
		Address line 1	
		Address line 2	

Once the member has confirmed their card details or PayPal account, payment is made directly to your organisations account. Any transactions fees are deducted from the payment and your member will have €20 added to their account, the amount transferred to your organisations account will be €20 minus the transaction fees, this will depend on your type of PayPal account the amount that you transfer in.

eBookingOnline is notified of this transaction and records this in the member payments. Details that are stored are:

- Date
- Amount
- Fees
- Transaction ID

These can be viewed through either the Admin Panel or through the Members online account.

Finally, the member will receive an email confirmation from PayPal that the payment has been made and an email from eBookingonline to state that the payment has been received and the new credit of their online account. This normally happens instantaneously, in some rare cases payment authentication from PayPal can be delayed by 20 mins.

As an organisation you will also receive an email from PayPal for your records detailing the transaction received.

# Public Court Bookings - Pay per Play

In partnership with findacourt.online, your club can make available courts to the public to Pay as they Go. Members of the public can search for available courts near them and then book and pay for them online. You also have the option to add direct links to your own websites, that takes a perspective guest directly to your club. This is presently a free to use service, however starting in 2025 a small booking fee with be attached to the cost of the booking.

Enabling Pay per Play involves configuring some extra parameters for your club and setting which courts are available, times and the costs for each court. These costs are independent of your existing billing structure, allowing you to charge different rates for times and courts. All the configuration is performed in the EBO Admin Panel.

Currently the only merchant that is integrated with findacourt.online is Stripe. Whilst you can use the same Stripe Account as you may be using for billing, we recommend using a separate sub-account with its own API keys. This keeps a clear demarcation between the two and makes life easier to see where your income is derived from. Similar to EBO, the transactions from the guest credit card are paid directly into your Stripe Account in full (minus the merchant fees).

# Configuration

First create your Stripe account (or recommended sub-account) and then obtain the API keys and Create the Webhook.

- From the Stripe dashboard go to the Developers section and then select API keys at the top of the page. Make a note of the Publishable Key and the Secret Key. Please ensure the secret key is kept safe and not stored in an insecure manner.
- 2. Next select Webhooks from the top menu and click + Add endpoint
- 3. In the Endpoint url field add: https://findacourt.online/hooks/stripe.php
- 4. Optionally you can add a description here.
- 5. Add the two events to listen for by clicking on + Select Events and adding
  - a. charge.refunded
  - b. payment\_intent.succeeded
- 6. Finally click on Add Endpoint

7. Click on the newly created webhook ensuring that it is enabled and then click on the Reveal link to show the Webhook signing secret key, make a note of this.

From the **main** menu of the Admin Panel select **Pay per Play** under the Additional Features section. The first step is to configure the PPP options by clicking on the button.

Pay per Play G	eneral Options					
The Pay per Play options set t enable this feature and in orde	he method you will collect boo er for a correct search of your o	king fees and define you lub your longitude and la	r Terms and Conditions. atitude must be correct	You can also enabled/disable the	PPP feature globally. An e	online merchant must be configured to
Merchant	Stripe	Ŧ	Data Taken from	Global Settings edit		
Enable Pay per Play	PPP Club ID: 4		Club Name	Fantasy Tennis & Squa	ash Club'ss	
Address1	Some Place		Longitude	51.0513		
Address2	Some Stree		Latitude	0.158196		
Address3	Some Tone		Time Zone	Europe/London		
Publishable Key						
Secret Key	1					
Webhook Secret						
Currency	UK Sterling *					
Contact email	me@ebookingonline.net					
Contact Phone	07823222654					
Copy emails to						
	* Use a comma to separate	nultiple addresses				
Custom Message	Hello World!					
					le	
Torms <sup>9</sup> Conditions	* This message is appended	to emails in all booking	confirmations (max 255	hars)		
Terms & condutions Enter your text for your Booking Terms and Conditions, this will be displayed for those making bookings, they will also have to agree to these to complete a booking. The policy should contain the process of who to contact and any date redurictions on refunds in order to obtain a refund. It should also provide expected timelines of when refunds will be processed. Most online merchants will request evidence of a suitable refund policy.						
File Edit View In	sert Format Tools Ta	ble				
$\leftrightarrow$ $\diamond$	Paragraph 🗸	В	I <u>A</u> ~ .	<b>∠</b>	= =	≣ …

Figure 55 Pay per Play Configuration

When you enable Pay to Play using the checkbox, the Terms of Use are display, which need to be agreed to fully activate this feature.

Some of the settings for this page are taken from your global configuration. If these are incorrect, please leave this page, configure the global options correctly and come back here. The Longitude and Latitude are important as these are used for guests to search geographically for your club.

Your full address is required so that guests know how to find you.

Next add the 3 keys that you obtained from your Stripe account.

Add the currency that you will collecting payments in, along with contact information. Any confirmation emails will also be copied to admins, please enter these separated with a comma.

The custom message will appear in the confirmation email. This may contain any additional information that you wish to add, such as instructions of what to do when the guest arrives at the club.

Finally, you will need to configure your Terms and Conditions for the booking. This is free text but should also include your cancellation and refund policy. Once a booking is made it can only be cancelled by the club admin and at this time a refund can be made. More on this later.

Click on Save to save your options. If you revisit this page again you will now see that you have been assigned a findacourt.online club id. Please make a note of this, it will never change but is used for you to create some direct links.

On the Pay per Play configuration page an empty table will be show for the courts and time that you wish to make available to the public. Click on Add to add your first entry.

Create new entry		×
Sport	Select a Sport	•
Court	Select a Court	•
PPP Sport	Select a Sport	•
Weekday	Day of Week	*
Start Time		
Finish Time		
Cost of Booking		
Booking Advanced Days		
		Create

#### Figure 56 Adding available Courts

The form here is self-explanatory and very granular in what you offer. The advance booking in days overrides your member advance booking in days, meaning that you can set this for a longer period of time, allowing your members first choice. The cost of the booking is the price that the guest will pay. This includes Stripe merchant fees and any future booking fee that may apply through findacourt.online.

This table does allow you to select multiple lines when editing, so if you want to change the cost for example of all your offerings, select all the table rows and then EDIT.

You can enable / disable the availability of courts under the PPP options with a single toggle of the service if needed.

### Your public Link

Your direct link for your club to findacourt.online will be:

### https://findacourt.online.net/?clubId=X

Replacing X with your club ID from findacourt.online (this will be different to your EBO club ID)

### How this works for Guests

Guests would either visit your directly link (above) or they would search for courts in their local area using the main site at https://findacourt.online. This is why your geolocation is so important.

Once they have found a court they would like to book they simply click on it and will be taken to the confirmation page. If they are new to this system they will have to create a basic account with findacourt.online, which is simple to do.

The guest would then need to agree to the terms and conditions and then confirm the slot they would like and enter their card details.

If successful, the slot will be booked and the EBO system updated with the court booked as a Guest Only booking. An email is sent confirming the booking, which will be copied to your selected admins. This email also contains your specific message, along with the Terms and Conditions that have been agreed to.

The guest can view their bookings, payments and request cancellations through findacourt.online.

# How this works for Your Club

When the booking is made the slot is booked as a Guest Only booking, specific to findacourt.online. The payment will also be recorded in the EBO payment section as a Pay Per Play transaction code 1P. The merchant fee will also be recorded with the payment.

If the guest requests a cancellation then the admin of the booking system (priv level 5 user) can click on the slot, as you would to edit any other booking, and the following dialogue will be displayed.

### **Change Booking**

Cancha Ref:	Court 3
Time & Date:	16:00, 25th March 2024

This booking was made through Pay Per Play services and cannot be modified. This booking can only be deleted which will result in a refund and a cancellation email to the end user.

Booking Details	
Name:	Nadhan, Adams
Email:	readframe (Epselfings Harris cos. all
Tel:	
Transaction Id:	pi_30yDLgLCYBBtz4FL0S7jOuu6
Payment Date:	2024-03-25 13:14:00
Amount:	€6.00
Fee:	€0.40

#### Figure 57 Modifying a PPP Booking

Delete Booking

💢 Cancel Changes

The booking cannot be modified as this is controlled by Pay per Play and can only be cancelled. It provides the relevant booking information and costs. The admin can delete the booking, when selected they will also be prompted for the amount to refund. This is discretionary and will be determined by your own policies.

If you are cancelling the booking due to your own reasons a full refund should be issued. When a booking is cancelled the guest will receive an email confirmation of this and their card refunded the amount set.

Cancellation payments are also recorded in the EBO system as well as findacourt.online for the guest account.

### **Disputes**

The booking is a direct contract between the club and the guest. Findacourt.online and ebookingonline.net only process the transaction. In the event of a dispute this should be settled between the club and the guest directly. Findacourt.Online cannot make any refund directly as they do not have authority to do so. In the event a dispute cannot be resolved, Findacourt.Online may be asked to review the dispute. If it finds that the club has acted in appropriately or does not have a clear policy for refunds / cancellations it may, at its discretion, suspend the service it offers to the club with immediate effect with no responsibility for any loss. This is part of the Terms and Conditions agreed to at the time of enable this service.

eBookingOnline offer a free setup service for the Billing System with testing. If you would like to take advantage of this then please log a support call at <u>http://tickets/ebookingonline.net</u>